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This annual report contains certain statements that are considered “forward-looking information” within the  

meaning of applicable securities legislation. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on these statements 

as a number of important factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations expressed 

in such forward-looking statements. Additional information about forward-looking information and associated 

risks and uncertainties can be found on pages 22 to 33 of this annual report.

Forward-
looking	

information



Completion of the phase 3  

CliniCal trials evaluating 

tesamorelin in HIV-associated 

lipodystrophy, preparing the  

way for the filing of a New Drug 

Application with the US Food  

and Drug Administration in 2009.

ConClusion of a Collaboration 

and liCensing agreement  

with EMD Serono, Inc. for the  

US commercialization rights  

of tesamorelin in HIV-associated 

lipodystrophy and receipt of  

cash on closing of $37 million.

launCh of an exploratory 

program by the Massachusetts 

General Hospital in order to evaluate 

tesamorelin in abdominal obesity 

associated with growth hormone 

deficiency.

 theratechnologies
 (tsX:th)
Theratechnologies is a Canadian biopharmaceutical company that discovers innovative 
drug candidates in order to develop them and bring them to market. The Company targets  
unmet medical needs in financially attractive specialty markets. Its most advanced compound,  
tesamorelin, is an analogue of the growth hormone releasing factor. In 2008, Theratechnologies 
completed a confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trial evaluating tesamorelin in HIV-associated 
lipodystrophy, a serious metabolic disorder involving excess abdominal fat. The Company 
also has other projects at earlier stages of development.

(For the years ended November 30, in thousands of Canadian dollars)  2008	 	 2007  2006
R&D expenditures $ 35,326 $ 31,866 $ 22,049 

Liquidities*  $ 48,121 $ 61,786 $ 37,591 

Burn rate**   $ 41,493 $ 34,698 $ 23,917

* Includes cash, bonds and tax credits receivable. 
** Represented by cash flows from operating activities and excluding changes in operating assets and liabilities.

Financial
summary

2008 
Highlights

Contents
4	 Chairman’s letter

10  management’s 

disCussion  

and analysis

5  message from the  

president and Chief 

exeCutive offiCer

34  Consolidated finanCial 

statements

8	 board of direCtors

58  Corporate information

2008 annual report_3

http://www.theratech.com
http://www.theratech.com/en/products-therapeutic-peptides/lipodystrophy.php
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=338
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=338
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=339
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=321


4_2008 annual report

 chairman’s
 letter
Dear Shareholders, 
At this time last year, Theratechnologies was in the early stages of a strategic  

review that had been mandated by the Board of Directors in order to consider 

all alternatives available to the Company and therefore realize fully the 

potential of tesamorelin. The process was concluded very successfully  

in late October with the signing of a collaboration and licensing agreement 

for the US market with EMD Serono, Inc.

Our new partner for the US market is an affiliate of a large, German-based  

pharmaceutical company, Merck KGaA. More relevant to our needs, EMD 

Serono has a solid US sales and marketing infrastructure with enormous 

experience in the fields of HIV and growth hormone therapy — two strengths 

that are critical to achieving our long-term goal of bringing tesamorelin 

from our discovery lab to the market. With an aggregate deal value of 

US$215 million (which is approximately CDN$265 M) plus royalties, the  

partnership also adds a high degree of financial security at a time when 

the capital markets all over the world are inhospitable, to say the least. Taken  

together, these benefits have considerably reduced the risks associated 

with Theratechnologies and this at a time when there seems to be a lot  

of risk everywhere and in all endeavors.

While the strategic review was a major focus for us for most of 2008, I am  

pleased to say that management was careful not to lose sight of our number  

one operating priority, which was the completion of the tesamorelin Phase 3  

clinical program. The program was successfully wrapped up on schedule 

with the announcement of the 52-week results for the second Phase 3 

trial in mid-December. On behalf of the Board and shareholders, I would 

like to thank all of our employees and, in particular, Yves Rosconi, our 

President and CEO, for his leadership throughout a year when it was very 

difficult at certain times to stay motivated and positive about the future. 

Despite the continued turmoil in capital markets, the year ahead promises 

to be an exciting one for our shareholders. At the operating level, we will  

be pushing full speed ahead with the tesamorelin-approval process, and  

we will be doing this with the support of our colleagues at EMD Serono. 

Concurrently, the Board of Directors and senior management are considering  

and evaluating the different choices and alternatives Theratechnologies now 

has to continue to grow. These options include, amongst others, exploring 

strategic alliances for the commercialization of tesamorelin outside of 

the US for HIV-associated lipodystrophy and evaluating other potential 

indications for tesamorelin. During the process we must bear in mind  

that conserving cash and investing wisely are of utmost importance within 

the current economic environment. 

The past year has been a very difficult one for investors across all sectors 

of the economy and particularly in the biotech sector. While we can’t ignore 

the forces of the broader marketplace, I encourage you to consider the 

tremendous progress that Theratechnologies made in 2008 and the strong  

platform that is now in place for future growth: we have a very experienced 

team and an exceptionally well-qualified commercial partner; we are the  

leading company in the field of HIV-associated lipodystrophy; we have  

a strong balance sheet and a long history of conserving cash and investing  

it wisely. Above all, we have a clear and unwavering commitment to realize  

fully the potential of tesamorelin. In combination, these factors will assist 

us in reaching our objective which is to transform Theratechnologies into  

a strong revenue-generating company that will self-finance its future growth. 

In closing, I would like to sincerely thank my fellow directors for their valued 

counsel and input during 2008. You can very well imagine that during  

our strategic review process they were frequently called upon to share 

with us their vast experience and expertise. On their behalf, I also thank 

our long-standing shareholders for their continued support and patience 

and welcome our new shareholders to Theratechnologies.

 

Paul Pommier 
Chairman of the Board 

February 27, 2009

http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=339
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=339
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=338
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=338
http://www.theratech.com/en/products-therapeutic-peptides/lipodystrophy.php
http://www.merck.de
http://www.emdserono.com
http://www.emdserono.com
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 message From the PresiDent
 anD chieF eXecUtiVe oFFicer

In the following interview, Yves Rosconi talks about the highlights of 2008 at Theratechnologies.

 Q. What’s your assessment of 2008?

 A.  I believe that 2008 will be remembered as a pivotal year for Theratechnologies — a year in which we cleared 

several hurdles that will contribute greatly to the Company’s future success. First, we completed the clinical 

program evaluating tesamorelin in lipodystrophy last year. This is a major accomplishment and one of which 

everyone who took part can be justifiably proud. In fact, there are very few biotechnology companies that can 

claim to have developed a molecule through to the end of two Phase 3 studies, starting from their discovery 

lab. What’s more, in the fall we signed a license agreement with EMD Serono, Inc., an ideal partner for the 

commercialization of tesamorelin in the United States. It is an important agreement that I am convinced  

will allow us to transform the scientific success of tesamorelin into commercial success.  

	 Q.	 	What are the key elements of the Phase 3 clinical program that you 
completed in 2008? 

 A.  Our Phase 3 clinical program was made up of two separate studies, the objective of the second being to confirm 

the data generated by the first. Given the results of the confirmatory study released in 2008, we can now say 

that in two independent studies we have achieved the primary endpoint, which was a reduction of visceral fat, 

as well as important secondary endpoints; and the similarities in the data from the two studies would seem to 

confirm the results obtained. 

These results are a source of hope for thousands of patients suffering from lipodystrophy with no approved treatment 

available. Obviously, Phase 3 results are also a crucial component of the New Drug Application (NDA) that will  

be submitted to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The FDA is the regulatory organization that is responsible 

for making a decision on the approval of tesamorelin in the United States. 

Finally, from a scientific perspective, we were pleased that the results of our Phase 3 clinical trials attracted the 

attention of the medical community and were published in prestigious journals such as the New England Journal 

of Medicine and the Journal of the International AIDS Society.

	 Q.	 	Why is the collaboration and license agreement with EMD Serono 
the best option for Theratechnologies?

 A.  Because the EMD Serono agreement allows us to put the future US commercialization of tesamorelin in experienced 

hands while keeping the possibility of developing other markets and evaluating tesamorelin in other indications 

for Theratechnologies. In 2008, with the confirmatory trial and the NDA preparation underway, it was the right 

http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=339
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=338
http://www.fda.gov
http://www.theratech.com/en/products-therapeutic-peptides/lipodystrophy.php
http://www.nejm.org/
http://www.nejm.org/
http://www.jiasociety.org/
http://www.fda.gov/cder/regulatory/applications/nda.htm
http://www.emdserono.com
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time for Theratechnologies to link up with strong capabilities in commercialization and American reimbursement  

strategies. With seven approved drugs on the US market, the ability of EMD Serono to commercialize pharmaceutical 

products is well-established. EMD Serono has a seasoned sales force, has expertise in drug delivery, and is 

particularly well grounded in the growth-hormone field. I am convinced that once the product is approved, this  

experience will facilitate the launch of tesamorelin in the United States, which will in turn create a revenue stream.

	 Q.	 	What is the financial impact of the agreement?

 A.  Our agreement with EMD Serono has clearly strengthened our balance sheet and, in the light of current capital 

markets, we enjoy an enviable financial position. Following approval of the agreement by the United States 

antitrust authorities in December 2008, we received cash on closing of 37 million Canadian dollars. This has 

been added to the $48 million of liquidity we held at the end of our fourth quarter in November 2008. Still to 

come are the milestone payments and the royalties envisaged by the agreement. As a result, Theratechnologies 

is now able to finance its current business plan. Let me also emphasize that this newly acquired financial flexibility 

will, in no way, affect the care and judgment that we will apply in choosing future investments.

	 Q.	 	What are the next steps for tesamorelin?

 A.  The next step for tesamorelin, and it is a crucial one, is the submission of a NDA to the FDA in the United States. 

Last September, we had a preparatory meeting with the FDA concerning the submission of our application. This 

meeting is an integral part of the process and is held principally to determine the best way to present the data  

to the American regulatory authorities.

It is a voluminous package that includes all of the manufacturing, preclinical and clinical tesamorelin data and 

totals several hundred thousand pages. Putting together such a regulatory package is a considerable task that 

requires competency and a great deal of determination, two qualities that our team has in spades. At this point, 

our NDA is being finalized in collaboration with EMD Serono, who is making its American regulatory experience 

available to us. 

While our number one objective is to submit our package to the FDA, in the longer term I also foresee increased 

regulatory activities aimed at approval in other markets as well as the evaluation of tesamorelin in indications 

other than lipodystrophy associated with HIV.
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	 Q.	 	Theratechnologies has devoted the past three years to the development 
of tesamorelin in lipodystrophy but exploratory studies are also 
under way in other indications. Can you tell us a little about the 
studies being carried out by external organizations?

 A.  Indeed, two exploratory studies sponsored by the National Institutes of Health in the United States are currently  

evaluating tesamorelin for the treatment of abdominal obesity associated with growth hormone deficiency as well  

as pre-Alzheimer conditions. The abdominal obesity study was launched in May 2008 by the Massachusetts 

General Hospital and the pre-Alzheimer study is being conducted by the University of Washington. These studies 

are very important to us because they demonstrate a great interest on the part of the scientific community for 

tesamorelin and its potential as a treatment in indications other than lipodystrophy. I will add that the internal 

development of a clinical program evaluating tesamorelin in another indication makes a lot of sense to me and 

that this possibility is currently being seriously considered, along with the other growth options we have.

	 Q.	 	What do you foresee for Theratechnologies in 2009?

 A.  Our priority in 2009 is the submission of our regulatory package to the FDA. In parallel with this, the EMD Serono 

agreement gives us enviable financial flexibility and one could say that we find ourselves at a crossroads in 2009. 

We have a promising product in hand as well as the resources needed to take the Company forward, whether that  

be to develop lipodystrophy markets outside the United States or to develop tesamorelin in additional indications. 

We need to weigh these options carefully and measure their upside potential against the investment required.

	 Q.	 	Would you like to add a final word?

 A.  Thanks to hard work on the part of all of our employees, our ultimate objective of generating revenues from our 

flagship product now seems close at hand. Not only do I want to thank them for their devotion, but I would also 

like to reiterate the confidence that I have in our team. 

 

Yves Rosconi 
President and Chief Executive Officer  

February 27, 2009

http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=321
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=321
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 boarD oF  
 Directors

Paul Pommier, MBA 

Chairman of the Board

paul pommier spent over 25 years at National Bank Financial, ultimately 

as Senior Executive Vice President, Corporate and Government Finance. 

Throughout his career, he oversaw public and private financings, mergers 

and acquisitions, as well as the marketing of investment offerings. Retired 

since 1997, Mr. Pommier was appointed Chairman of the Board of 

Theratechnologies in 2007. 

Gilles Cloutier, Ph.D.   

Corporate Director 

dr. gilles Cloutier has over 30 years of experience in clinical research 

with contract research organizations and pharmaceutical companies.  

His experience includes the development and approval of several drugs  

in Canada, the United States and Europe.  

A. Jean de Grandpré, C.C., Q.C.  

Corporate Director

a. Jean de grandpré contributed to Bell Canada’s exceptional growth as 

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and went on to become  

the founding Chairman of the Board and CEO of BCE. Mr. de Grandpré was 

appointed Chairman of the Board of Theratechnologies in 1996, a position  

in which he served for more than 13 years. 

Bernard Reculeau 
Chairman of the Board, 

CIS Bio International 

bernard reCuleau brings over 20 years of pharmaceutical industry 

experience to Theratechnologies. Mr. Reculeau has extensive hands-on 

management experience in commercial activities and pharmaceutical 

operations, notably in France where he successfully ran the pharmaceutical 

operations for Rhône-Poulenc and Rhône-Poulenc Rorer and throughout 

Europe. 

Yves Rosconi, L. Pharm., MBA   

President and Chief Executive Officer 

yves rosConi brings over 25 years of global pharmaceutical experience 

to Theratechnologies. Before joining the Company, Mr. Rosconi was Senior 

Vice President, responsible for Africa and the Middle East at Paris-based 

Aventis. Prior to that, Mr. Rosconi was President and General Manager  

of Canadian operations at Rhône-Poulenc Rorer. 
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Robert G. Goyer, Ph.D.  

Professor Emeritus, Faculty of Pharmacy, 

Université de Montréal

dr. robert g. goyer has over 40 years of experience in the pharmaceutical 

field. Recognized for his broad expertise in drug development, Dr. Goyer has 

served on the boards of several companies and governmental organizations, 

such as Health Canada’s Therapeutic Products Directorate, the Régie  

de l’assurance maladie du Québec and the Conseil du médicament  

du Québec. 

Gérald A. Lacoste, Q.C. 

Corporate Director 

gérald a. laCoste is a lawyer with extensive experience in the fields 

of securities regulation, financing and corporate governance. He was 

previously Chairman of the Québec Securities Commission and was 

also President and CEO of the Montréal Stock Exchange. Mr. Lacoste 

is a member of the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) 

arbitration panel. 

Jean-Denis Talon   
Chairman of the Board, 

AXA Canada

Jean-denis talon had a successful career with AXA Insurance over  

a period of more than 20 years ultimately becoming President and Chief 

Executive Officer. Mr. Talon is also the former President of the Financial 

Affairs Committee at the Insurance Bureau of Canada and a director  

of various companies. 

Luc Tanguay, M.Sc., CFA 

Senior Executive Vice President and  

Chief Financial Officer

luC tanguay joined Theratechnologies’ management team in 1996, 

contributing to the Company’s growth by facilitating access to public and  

private capital funding. Prior to joining Theratechnologies, Mr. Tanguay 

had a successful career in investment banking at National Bank Financial.
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 ManageMent’s discussion 
 and analysis 
The following discussion and analysis provides management’s point of view on the financial position and the results of operations of Theratechnologies 

Inc. (“Theratechnologies” or the “Company”), on a consolidated basis for the twelve-month periods ended November 30, 2008 (“2008”) and 

November 30, 2007 (“2007”). This information is dated January 23, 2009 and should be read in conjunction with the Audited Consolidated Financial 

Statements and the accompanying notes, which have been prepared by management in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles (“GAAP”). Unless specified otherwise, the amounts are in Canadian dollars. 

Overview 
Theratechnologies is a Canadian biopharmaceutical company that discovers innovative drug candidates in order to develop them and bring them 

to market. The Company targets unmet medical needs in financially attractive specialty markets. Its most advanced compound, tesamorelin, is an 

analogue of the growth hormone releasing factor. Theratechnologies recently concluded a confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trial evaluating tesamorelin 

in HIV-associated lipodystrophy, a serious metabolic disorder associated with excess abdominal fat. The Company also has other projects at earlier 

stages of development. 

Throughout 2008, the clinical activities of Theratechnologies were focused on the confirmatory study, the second element of the Phase 3 clinical 

program evaluating tesamorelin in HIV-associated lipodystrophy. This study was conducted in over 400 patients in North America and Europe with  

the objective of confirming the results of the first Phase 3 trial. In June, the Company announced the top-line results of the confirmatory study after  

26 weeks of treatment and in December, following the financial year end, the top-line results after 52 weeks of treatment were announced. These 

results were in line with those of the first study, announced in December 2006 and October 2007. Finally, in May 2008, Theratechnologies announced 

an agreement with the Massachusetts General Hospital and Dr. Steven Grinspoon to explore the use of tesamorelin in relative growth hormone deficient 

abdominally obese subjects. The agreement stipulates that the Company supplies the tesamorelin and has no other obligations, financial or otherwise, 

in the execution of this study, but it will be entitled to any benefits that may flow from the results generated in this trial. Dr. Grinspoon was awarded  

a grant by the National Institutes of Health to conduct the study.

On the regulatory front, Theratechnologies was very active in 2008, working on the preparation of the New Drug Application (“NDA”) which must  

be submitted to the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), the American regulatory agency that will be responsible for making a decision on the approval 

of tesamorelin in the United States. A preparatory meeting for Theratechnologies’ regulatory submission was held at the FDA in September 2008.  

This meeting, which is an integral part of the submission process, is principally to determine the best way to present the data to the American regulatory 

authorities. The submission of a NDA to the FDA is the Company’s top priority in 2009.

With respect to overall strategy, in early 2008, the Board of Directors of Theratechnologies embarked on a process of examining strategic options. 

The options considered included partnership transactions or strategic licensing in relation to tesamorelin, the acquisition of complementary products 

or businesses, and the sale or merger of the Company. In parallel with the strategic review, the Company completed a public offering of 3,500,000 

common shares for cash proceeds of $29,750,000 in order to adequately finance its operations and ensure that it had the financial flexibility needed 

for the strategic review being conducted by the Board of Directors.

The strategic review concluded on October 28, 2008, with the signing of a collaboration and licensing agreement with EMD Serono, Inc., an affiliate 

of Merck KGaA, of Darmstadt, Germany (the “Collaboration and Licensing Agreement”). The agreement covers the exclusive commercialization rights 

of tesamorelin in the United States for the treatment of excess abdominal fat in HIV patients with lipodystrophy and stipulates that Theratechnologies 

could receive up to US $215 million ($265 million), including the upfront payment and milestone payments based on attaining certain development, 

regulatory and sales objectives. The Company will also be entitled to receive escalating royalties on annual net sales of tesamorelin in the United States. 

Theratechnologies retains all tesamorelin commercialization rights outside of the United States.

http://www.theratech.com
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=338
http://www.theratech.com/en/products-therapeutic-peptides/lipodystrophy.php
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=321
http://www.fda.gov
http://www.fda.gov/cder/regulatory/applications/nda.htm
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=339
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=297
http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=269
http://www.merck.de
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On December 15, 2008, at the end of the waiting period under the Hart-Scott Rodino Act, Theratechnologies completed the transaction related to the 

Collaboration and Licensing Agreement. At the closing of this transaction, Theratechnologies received a payment of $37.0 million, which includes an 

upfront payment of $27.1 million from EMD Serono, Inc. (“EMD Serono”) and a common share subscription totalling $9.9 million by Merck KGaA at 

a price of $4.52 per share. On a pro forma basis, including the funds received at the closing of this transaction (net of closing costs), liquidities and tax 

credits receivable at the end of the year would have been $80.8 million.

economic environment 

Over the past year, the capital markets were characterized by significant stock market volatility and a notable decline in access to capital across all sectors 

and particularly in biotechnology. In parallel, an economic slowdown occurred in almost all sectors.

The general decline of capital markets has had a negative effect on the cost of capital for companies.

The Company does not envisage raising money because its liquidity level is sufficient to meet the operating needs of its current business plan. Furthermore,  

milestone payments and future royalties make it possible for the Company to fully finance its business plan beyond the commercialization of tesamorelin 

for its first indication in the United States.

The Company’s investment policy is conservative. The Company invests its funds in highly liquid, low-risk instruments as described under the heading 

“Liquidity and capital resources”. The Company holds no asset-backed commercial paper.

The Company relies on third parties for the manufacture and supply of its tesamorelin. The Company is not aware of any information suggesting that 

its principal suppliers will not be able to meet their obligations.

Selected annual information
 

consolidated statement of earnings

YEARS ENDED NOVEMBER 30 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  2008  2007  2006 

Revenues $ 2,641 $ 3,134 $ 1, 649 

Research and development before tax credits $ 35,326 $ 31,866 $ 22,049  

Operating loss before loss on investments  $ (48,375) $ (37,531) $ (25,861) 

Loss on investments in companies $ (578) $ (57) $ — 

Net loss $ (48,953) $ (37,588) $ (25,861) 

Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.85) $ (0.71) $ (0.60)

http://www.theratech.com/en/news-events/news.php?id=337


12_2008 annual report

consolidated balance sheet

AT NOVEMBER 30

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  2008  2007  2006 

Liquidities (cash and bonds) $ 46,337 $ 60,368 $ 35,680 

Tax credits receivable $ 1,784 $ 1,418 $ 1,911 

Investments in public companies $ 41 $ 635 $ 836 

Total assets $ 54,144 $ 74,590 $ 50,968 

Capital stock $ 269,219 $ 238,842 $ 177,552 

Shareholders’ equity $ 46,946 $ 65,977 $ 44,475

Operating results
revenues  

Theratechnologies’ consolidated revenues for the year ended November 30, 2008 were $2,641,000 compared to $3,134,000 in 2007. The revenues 

are principally composed of interest on investments. For the year ended November 30, 2008, interest revenues were comparable to those of 2007, 

reflecting lower interest rates in 2008 compensated by higher average liquidity levels. 

The 2008 revenues from royalties, technologies and other include an amount of $193,000 attributable to a license agreement signed with PDC Biotech  

GmbH for a family of peptides aimed at programs in preterm labour and primary dysmenorrhea. The 2007 revenues included $619,000 attributable  

to a license agreement by the Company through which OctoPlus N.V. (“OctoPlus”) acquired the worldwide rights to the development and commercialization 

of the Company’s glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) portfolio of analogues for the treatment of diabetes and other potential indications. 

r&d activities  

Consolidated research and development (“R&D”) expenditures, before tax credits, amounted to $35,326,000 for the year ended November 30, 2008, 

compared to $31,866,000 in 2007. The increase in R&D expenditures in 2008 is explained by increased activities related to completing the clinical 

program for tesamorelin in HIV-associated lipodystrophy as well as higher expenses related to the preparation of a NDA for the FDA in the United States. 

Stock-based compensation attributable to R&D was lower, however, at $593,000 compared to $1,122,000 in 2007. 

The majority of R&D expenses in 2008 were applied to tesamorelin in HIV-associated lipodystrophy. The current business plan calls for this trend  

to continue in 2009.

The Company is currently working with its commercial partner to finalize the regulatory submission, including therein the 52-week data from the 

confirmatory trial. The inclusion of these data, which became available at the end of 2008, should allow the Company to file the best possible submission 

and thereby optimise the labelling of tesamorelin.

The Company expects to submit a NDA for tesamorelin in the United States before the end of the second quarter.

tax credits  

Tax credits amounted to $2,111,000 for the year ended November 30, 2008, compared to $1,652,000 in 2007. Tax credits represent refundable tax 

credits obtained from the Québec Government. Higher R&D expenditures in 2008 contributed to the increase in tax credits.

 

http://www.octoplus.nl
http://www.pdcbiotech.com
http://www.pdcbiotech.com
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other expenses  

For the year ended November 30, 2008, general and administrative expenses were $6,185,000, compared to $7,260,000 in 2007. The decrease in 2008 

is attributable to a decrease of $803,000 in stock-based compensation and a $351,000 reduction in exchange loss.

Selling and market development expenses were $3,811,000, compared to $2,351,000 in 2007. The increase in these charges is related to pre-

commercialization expenses for tesamorelin in HIV-associated lipodystrophy. Following the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement, the growth  

in selling and market development expenses will be significantly lower.

For the year ended November 30, 2008, patents, amortization and impairment of other assets amounted to $5,581,000, compared to $840,000 in 2007.  

In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company wrote off $287,000 of patent expenses following a review by management of its development strategy and 

choice of a specific molecule for the acute renal failure program. The Company also conducted an impairment test on the intellectual property of the 

ExoPep discovery platform following a review of the development strategy for new products by management. As a consequence, the Company wrote 

off the carrying amount of this intellectual property in 2008. The write down of $4,571,000 is included in “Patents, amortization and impairment of 

other assets” in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

The costs related to the strategic review and the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement amounted to $2,224,000 for 2008. These costs are essentially 

composed of fees paid to the various experts retained to help management and the board of directors. See “Subsequent events”. 

In 2008, the Company incurred an impairment of $578,000 related to a decline in value that is other than temporary for stock options held in OctoPlus N.V. 

net results 

Reflecting the changes in revenues and expenses described above, the Company incurred a net loss of $48,953,000 or $0.85 per share in 2008 

compared to $37,588,000 or $0.71 per share in 2007. The net loss in 2008 includes the previously described impairment charges totalling $5,436,000. 

Quarterly financial information 
The selected financial information provided below is derived from the Company’s unaudited quarterly financial statements for each of the last  

eight quarters.

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)    2008        2007

   Q4	 	 Q3	 	 Q2	 	 Q1  Q4  Q3  Q2   Q1

Revenues $ 616 $ 710  $ 716  $ 599  $ 1,294  $ 748  $ 805 $ 287 

Net loss $ (15,440) $ (11,224) $ (11,398) $ (10,891) $ (10,279)  $ (9,781)  $ (8,089)  $  (9,439) 

Basic and diluted  

 loss per share $ (0.27) $ (0.19)  $ (0.20)  $ (0.20)  $ (0.19) $ (0.18)  $ (0.15) $ (0.20) 

The fourth quarter revenues of 2007 include $619,000 paid in the form of stock options and representing an upfront payment for the worldwide rights 

to the development and commercialization of the Company’s GLP-1 program granted to OctoPlus. The increase in the fourth quarter loss in 2008 is 

related to impairments totalling $5,436,000.

http://www.octoplus.nl
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Fourth quarter
Consolidated revenues for the three-month period ended November 30, 2008 amounted to $616,000 compared to $1,294,000 in the same period  

of 2007. Interest revenues in the fourth quarter of 2008 were lower than those of 2007, reflecting lower liquidities in 2008 as well as a general decline 

in market interest rates. The fourth quarter revenues of 2007 include $619,000 attributable to a license between the Company and OctoPlus. 

Consolidated research and development (R&D) expenditures, before tax credits, totalled $6,313,000 for the fourth quarter of 2008, compared  

to $8,475,000 in 2007. The lower level of R&D expenses in the fourth quarter is due to the conclusion of the confirmatory Phase 3 trial. 

General and administrative expenses were $1,874,000 in the fourth quarter of 2008, compared to $2,064,000 for the same period in 2007. The lower 

expenses in 2008 reflect various non-recurring items experienced in 2007.

Selling and market development expenses for the fourth quarter of 2008 amounted to $1,124,000, compared to $689,000 for the same period in 2007.  

The increase in these charges is related to pre-commercialization expenses for tesamorelin in HIV-associated lipodystrophy. Following the Collaboration 

and Licensing Agreement, the growth in selling and market development expenses will be significantly lower.

Patents, amortization and impairment of other assets amounted to $5,022,000 for the three months ended November 30, 2008, compared to $240,000  

for the corresponding period in 2007. In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company wrote off $287,000 of patent expenses following a review by management 

of the development strategy and choice of a specific molecule for the acute renal failure program. The Company also conducted an impairment test 

on the intellectual property of the ExoPep discovery platform following a review of the development strategy for new products by management. As a 

consequence, the Company wrote off the carrying amount of this intellectual property in 2008. The write down of $4,571,000 is included in “Patents, 

amortization and impairment of other assets” in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

In 2008, the Company incurred an impairment charge of $578,000 related to a decline in value that is other than temporary for stock options held  

in OctoPlus. 

Consequently, the Company recorded a net loss for the three-month period ended November 30, 2008 of $15,440,000 or $0.27 per share, compared  

to $10,279,000 or $0.19 per share in 2007. The 2008 net loss includes the previously described impairment charges totalling $5,436,000.

In the three months ended November 30, 2008, the burn rate from operating activities, excluding changes in operating assets and liabilities, was 

$9,527,000 compared to $9,958,000 in 2007.

Liquidity and capital resources
The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure a sufficient liquidity position to finance its research and development activities, general  

and administrative expenses, working capital and overall capital expenditures, and patents. The Company makes every attempt to manage its liquidity 

to minimize shareholder dilution.

To fund its activities, the Company has followed an approach that relies almost exclusively on the issuance of common equity and proceeds and royalties 

from technologies following the closing of the transaction described under “Subsequent events”. Since inception, the Company has financed its liquidity 

needs primarily through public offerings of common shares and private placements. When possible, the Company tries to optimize its liquidity position 

through non-dilutive sources, including investment tax credits, grants, interest income as well as proceeds and royalties from technologies. 
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For the year ended November 30, 2008, the burn rate, represented by cash flows from operating activities and excluding changes in operating assets 

and liabilities, was $41,493,000 compared to $34,698,000 in 2007. The increase in the burn rate in 2008 reflects the planned increase in activities 

necessary to complete the Phase 3 tesamorelin studies as well as the strategic review process and the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement.

Based on the current business plan, the burn rate for 2009 is expected to decline over the course of the year to reach a level that will be approximately 

30% lower than that of 2008. This reduction is principally related to lower research and development expenses following the submission of a NDA for 

tesamorelin in the United States. Considering the liquidity level and the decline in the burn rate, the Company is capable of fully financing its current 

business plan beyond the commercialization of tesamorelin for its first indication in the United States.

Theratechnologies maintained a good liquidity position in 2008. At November 30, 2008, cash and bonds amounted to $46,337,000 and tax credits 

receivable amounted to $1,784,000, for a total of $48,121,000.

On a pro forma basis, including the funds received at the closing of the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement (see “Subsequent events”), liquidities 

and tax credits receivable at the end of 2008 would have been $80,812,000.

It is the policy of the Company to minimize its level of debt. The Company has a line of credit of $1,800,000 for its short-term financing needs.  

As at November 30, 2008, this line of credit was not being used. However, $505,000 of this amount was allocated to secure an irrevocable letter  

of credit related to lease commitments on its premises.

The Company invests its available cash in highly liquid fixed income instruments from governmental, municipal and para-governmental bodies 

($43,795,000 at November 30, 2008) as well as from companies with high credit ratings ($2,409,000 at November 30, 2008).

During the first quarter of 2008, the Company completed a public offering for the sale and issuance of 3,500,000 common shares for cash proceeds  

of $29,750,000. Issue costs totalled $1,938,000, resulting in net proceeds of $27,812,000. In the year ended November 30, 2008, the Company 

issued 119,666 common shares following the exercise of stock options, for cash proceeds of $397,000. The Company also received share subscriptions 

amounting to $149,000 for the issuance of 64,291 common shares to employees in connection with its share purchase plan. 

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company completed a public offering for the sale and issuance of 6,875,000 common shares, including those 

issued pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option, for total cash consideration of $57,750,000. Issue costs totalled $3,188,000, resulting  

in net proceeds of $54,562,000. In the year ended November 30, 2007, the Company issued 867,700 common shares following the exercise of stock 

options, for cash proceeds of $2,392,000. During 2007, the Company also issued 13,074 common shares to employees for a total cash consideration 

of $129,000 in connection with its share purchase plan.
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Contractual obligations
As at November 30, 2008, the Company’s commitments are principally obligations under an operating lease related to its premises (See note 9 of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements). Required payments under the operating lease agreement are presented below.

PAYMENTS REQuiRED BY DuE DATE

    Less than 1 to 3  4 to 5  Over 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  Total  1 year years years  5 years

Operating lease $ 1,156 $ 816 $ 340  —  —

Off-balance sheet arrangements
The Company was not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements as at November 30, 2008, with the exception of an irrevocable letter of credit 

issued in the amount of $505,000 related to lease commitments.

Subsequent events
collaboration and licensing agreement 

On October 28, 2008, the Company entered into the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement, granting the exclusive commercialization rights of tesamorelin  

in the United States for the treatment of excess abdominal fat in HIV patients with lipodystrophy (the “Initial Product”) to EMD Serono. Theratechnologies 

retains all tesamorelin commercialization rights outside of the United States.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is responsible for the development of the Initial Product up to obtaining marketing approval in the 

United States. The Company is also responsible for product production and for the development of a new formulation of the Initial Product. EMD Serono 

is responsible for conducting product commercialization activities.

At the closing of the agreement, on December 15, 2008, the Company received US $30,000,000 ($36,951,000) which includes an initial payment  

of US $22,000,000 ($27,097,000) and US $8,000,000 ($9,854,000) as a subscription for common shares in the Company by Merck KGaA at a 

price of US $3.67 ($4.52) per share. The Company may receive up to US $215,000,000 ($265,000,000), which amount includes the initial payment 

of US $22,000,000, the equity investment of US $8,000,000 as well as payments based on the achievement of certain development, regulatory and 

sales milestones. The Company will also be entitled to receive escalating royalties on annual net sales of tesamorelin in the United States.

The Company may conduct research and development for additional indications. EMD Serono will have the option to commercialize additional indications 

for tesamorelin in the United States. If it exercises this option, EMD Serono will pay half of the development costs related to such additional indications. 

In such cases, the Company will also have the right, subject to EMD Serono’s agreement, to participate in the promotion of the additional indications.

The fees associated with the strategic review process and the conclusion of the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement amounted to $2,224,000  

in 2008 and the transaction costs payable at closing are estimated at $4,260,000 for 2009.

granting of stock options 

On December 18, 2008, the Company issued 590,500 stock options at a strike price of $1.80 per share in connection with its compensation program.
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Financial risk management
The following disclosure relates to the nature and extent of the Company’s exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including credit risk, 

liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, and how the Company manages those risks.

credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company 

regularly monitors credit risk exposure and takes steps to mitigate the likelihood of this exposure resulting in losses.

Financial instruments other than cash that potentially subject the Company to significant credit risk consist principally of bonds. The Company invests 

its available cash in fixed income instruments from governmental, para-governmental and municipal bodies ($43,795,000 as at November 30, 2008) 

as well as from corporations with high credit ratings ($2,409,000 as at November 30, 2008). As at November 30, 2008, the Company was not exposed 

to any credit risk over the carrying amount of the bonds.

liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. As outlined under “Liquidity and capital 

resources”, the Company manages this risk by managing its capital structure. In addition, it manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual 

and projected cash flows. The Board of Directors and/or the audit committee reviews and approves the Company’s operating and capital budgets,  

as well as any material transactions out of the ordinary course of business.

The Company has adopted an investment policy in respect of the safety and preservation of its capital to ensure the Company’s liquidity needs are met.

The instruments are selected with regard to the expected timing of expenditures and prevailing interest rates. Bonds mature during the following 

fiscal years: $10,955,000 in 2009, $14,367,000 in 2010, $14,776,000 in 2011 and $6,106,000 in 2012. The required payments on the contractual 

maturities of financial liabilities and the payments required under the terms of the operating lease are presented in note 13B) of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

foreign currency risk 

The Company is exposed to financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates and the degree of volatility of those rates. Foreign currency 

risk is limited to the portion of the Company’s business transactions denominated in currencies other than the Canadian dollar, primarily expenses for 

research and development incurred in US dollars, euros and pounds sterling (“GBP”). The Company does not use derivative financial instruments to 

reduce its foreign exchange exposure.

The Company manages foreign exchange risk by maintaining US cash on hand to support US forecasted cash outflows for a maximum 12-month period. 

The Company does not currently view its exposure to the euro and GBP as a significant foreign exchange risk due to the limited volume of transactions 

conducted by the Company in these currencies.

The Company believes that the results of operations and cash flows would be affected by a sudden change in foreign exchange rates, but that it would 

not impair or enhance its ability to pay its US dollar denominated obligations.
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The following table provides significant items exposed to foreign exchange as at November 30, 2008:

	 	 	 	 	 	 November	30,	2008

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)	 	 US$	 	 EURO	 	 GBP

Cash  1  —  — 

Accounts receivable  —  —  — 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (2,589)  (159)  (348)

Balance sheet elements exposed to foreign currency risk  (2,588)  (159)  (348)

The following exchange rates applied during the year ended November 30, 2008:

	 	 Average	rate	 Reporting	date	rate	

	 	 November	30,	2008	 November	30,	2008

US$ - CAD$  1.0479  1.2370 

EURO - CAD$  1.5440  1.5711 

GBP - CAD$  1.9767  1.9060

Based on the Company’s foreign currency exposures noted above, varying the foreign exchange rates in the preceding table to reflect a 5% strengthening 

of the Canadian dollar would have decreased the net loss as follows, assuming that all other variables remained constant:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  US$	 	 EURO	 	 GBP

Decrease in net loss  129  8  17

An assumed 5% weakening of the Canadian dollar would have had an equal but opposite effect on the foreign currency amounts shown above, on the 

basis that all other variables remain constant.

interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Short-term bonds of the Company are invested at fixed interest rates and mature in the short-term. Long-term bonds are also instruments that bear  

interest at fixed rates. The risk that the Company will realize a loss as a result of a decline in the fair value of its bonds is limited because these investments, 

although they are available for sale, are generally held to maturity. Unrealized gains or losses on bonds are recorded in the “Accumulated other 

comprehensive loss”.

Cash bears interest at a variable rate. Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities bear no interest.

Based on the value of variable interest-bearing cash during the year-ended November 30, 2008, an assumed 0.5% point increase in interest rates during 

such period would have decreased cash flows from operating activities and the net loss by $31,000, with an equal but opposite effect for an assumed 

0.5% point decrease in interest rates.
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Financial instruments
The Company has determined that the carrying values of its short-term financial assets and liabilities, including cash, accounts receivable, as well  

as accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate their fair value because of the relatively short period to maturity of the instruments.

Bonds and investments in public companies are stated at estimated fair value, determined by prices quoted on active markets.

Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions, which affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. A change in the facts and circumstances of the underlying 

transaction could significantly change the application of the accounting policies and the resulting financial statement impact. Discussed below are those 

policies that are judged to be critical and require the use of complex judgment in their application. 

property and equipment and other assets  

Property and equipment and other assets are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are provided using methods and annual rates which are 

expected to reflect their economic and useful life. On a regular basis, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment. 

Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated useful lives of property and equipment requires judgment and is based on currently available information.

impairment of long-term assets 

The Company reviews its property and equipment and other assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be used is measured by the comparison of the carrying amount of an 

asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated from the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated 

future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. 

Management’s judgment regarding the existence of impairment indicators is based on legal factors, market conditions and operating performance. 

The fair value against which the asset is measured may be established based on comparable information or transactions, discounted cash flows 

or other methods of assessment depending on the nature of the asset. In estimating future cash flows, the Company uses its best estimates based 

on internal plans, which take management judgment into consideration. Changes in circumstances, such as technological advances and changes 

in business strategy can result in useful lives and future cash flows differing significantly from estimates. Revisions to the estimated useful lives of 

property and equipment or future cash flows constitute a change in accounting estimate and are applied prospectively.

income taxes  

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet to 

account for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the respective accounting and taxable value of balance sheet 

assets and liabilities. Future income tax assets and income tax liabilities are measured using the income tax rates that are most likely to apply when 

the asset is realized or the liability is settled. The effect of changes in income tax rates is recognized in the year during which these rates change. As  

appropriate, a valuation allowance is recognized to decrease the value of tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In estimating 

the realization of future income tax assets, management considers whether a portion or all future tax assets is more likely than not to be realized. 

Realization is subject to future taxable income. As at November 30, 2008, the Company determined that a tax valuation allowance for the full amount 

of future tax assets was necessary. In the event the Company determines that it can realize its tax assets, it will readjust them for the amount and adjust 

the income in the period for which such determination is made.
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research and development  

Research and development expenditures consist of direct and indirect expenses. They are expensed as they are incurred. The Company accounts  

for clinical trial expenses on the basis of work completed which relies on estimates of total costs incurred based on completion of patient studies,  

on the number of patients and other factors. The expenses that are recorded with respect to clinical trials are reviewed as the trial advances up until 

its final phase.

stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments  

The Company accounts for employee and non-employee stock options using the fair value based method estimated using the Black-Scholes model,  

which requires the use of certain assumptions, including future stock price volatility and the time interval until the options are exercised. Any change  

to these assumptions could lead to a variation of the fair value of the stock-based compensation, which could have a material impact on the Company’s 

results. Under this method, compensation cost is measured at fair value at the date of grant and is expensed over the vesting period. 

government assistance  

Government assistance consists of research tax credits and grants and is applied against related expenses and the cost of the asset acquired. Tax credits  

are available based on eligible research and development expenses consisting of direct and indirect expenditures and including a reasonable allocation  

of overhead expenses. Grants are subject to compliance with terms and conditions of the related agreements. Government assistance is recognized 

when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has met the requirements of the approved grant program or, with regard to tax credits, when 

there is reasonable assurance that they will be realized. 

New accounting policies
adoption of new accounting standards 

Effective with the commencement of its 2008 fiscal year, the Company has adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook 

Section 1535, Capital Disclosures, CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments — Disclosures, and CICA Handbook Section 3863, Financial 

Instruments — Presentation. The Sections relate to disclosure and presentation only and did not have an impact on the Company’s financial results 

(See notes 12 and 13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Effective with the commencement of its 2007 fiscal year, the Company has adopted the recommendations of the CICA Handbook Section 1530,  

Comprehensive Income, CICA Handbook Section 3251, Equity, CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement, 

and CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges. On December 1, 2006, the impact of these changes in accounting policies of $79,000 is included in the 

opening balance of accumulated other comprehensive income.

future accounting changes 

inventories 

In June 2007, the CICA issued Section 3031, Inventories, which replaces Section 3030 and harmonizes the Canadian standards related to inventories 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). This Section provides changes to the measurement and more extensive guidance on the 

determination of cost, including allocation of overhead; narrows the permitted cost formulas; requires impairment testing; and expands the disclosure 

requirements to increase transparency. This Section will apply to the Company’s interim and annual financial statements beginning December 1, 2008.  

As the Company had no inventories on November 30, 2008, the adoption of this section will have no impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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goodwill and intangible assets 

In January 2008, the CICA issued Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which will replace Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, 

and Section 3450, Research and Development Costs. The standard provides guidance on the recognition of intangible assets in accordance with  

the definition of an asset and the criteria for asset recognition, as well as clarifying the application of the concept of matching revenues and expenses, 

whether these assets are separately acquired or internally developed. This standard will apply to the Company’s interim and annual financial statements 

beginning on December 1, 2008 and will be applied retrospectively. The impact of adopting this standard will be to increase the opening deficit  

at December 1, 2006 by $861,000, which is the amount of patent costs related to periods prior to this date, as well as to increase the net loss  

by $80,000 in 2007 and to decrease the net loss by $342,000 in 2008.

international financial reporting standards 

In February 2008, Canada’s Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) confirmed that Canadian GAAP, as used by publicly accountable enterprises,  

would be fully converged into IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The changeover date is for interim and annual 

financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. As a result, the Company will be required to report under IFRS for its 

2012 interim and annual financial statements. The Company will convert to these new standards according to the timetable set within these new rules.  

The Company has not determined the impact of adopting the standards on its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Outstanding share data 
At January 23, 2009, the number of shares issued and outstanding was 60,394,927, while outstanding options granted under the stock option plan 

were 2,748,800. 

Disclosure controls and procedures 
The chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of the Company are responsible for establishing and maintaining controls and procedures 

regarding the communication of information about the Company, as well as internal controls over its financial reporting. As required by securities 

legislation, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer have conducted an evaluation of the controls and procedures regarding communication 

of information and have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective. In addition, the chief executive officer and the chief financial 

officer of the Company are responsible for designing internal controls over financial reporting or for causing it to be designed under their supervision. 

During the 2006 fiscal year, all existing systems were documented and inadequacies were corrected as needed. That documentation has been updated 

in 2008.
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Risks and uncertainties 
Investors should understand that the Company operates in a high risk industry. The Company has identified the following risks and uncertainties that 

may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations. Investors should carefully consider the risks described 

below before purchasing securities of the Company. The risks described below are not the only ones the Company faces. Additional risks not presently 

known to the Company or that the Company currently believes are immaterial may also significantly impair its business operations. The Company’s 

business could be harmed by any of these risks.

the company does not have the required regulatory approval to commercialize its products and cannot guarantee that it will obtain such regulatory 

approval.

The commercialization of the Company’s products first requires the approval of the regulatory agencies in each of the countries where it intends to sell 

its products. In order to obtain the required approvals, the Company must demonstrate, following preclinical and clinical studies, the safety, efficacy 

and quality of a product. As far as tesamorelin is concerned, the first market the Company wishes to penetrate for the treatment of HIV-associated 

lipodystrophy is the United States where the rules and regulations relating to the approval of a new drug are complex and stringent. There can be  

no guarantee that the Company will succeed in obtaining regulatory approval from the FDA and the regulatory approvals of agencies in other countries  

to sell its tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy. 

All of the products of the Company, including tesamorelin, are subject to preclinical and clinical studies and additional testing and if the results of such 

studies or testing are not positive, the Company may not be in a position to make any filing to obtain the mandatory regulatory approval or it may have 

to do additional clinical studies or testing on any of its products until the results support the safety and efficacy of such products, therefore incurring 

additional delays and costs.

The filing of a NDA is complex and the Company has never made any filings in order to obtain the regulatory approval of a product. Therefore, the 

Company must rely in part on third-party suppliers to help it perform this task. 

Furthermore, the obtaining of regulatory approval is subject to the discretion of regulatory agencies. Therefore, even if the Company files its NDA to the 

FDA, or the equivalent thereof in other countries, or has obtained positive results relating to the safety and efficacy of a product, a regulatory agency 

may not accept the filing or the results contained therein as being conclusive to allow the Company to sell its products in its country. A regulatory 

agency may require that additional tests on the safety and efficacy of a product be conducted prior to granting approval. 

Although the Company has received a special protocol assessment (“SPA”) from the FDA and the Company has followed it and met the primary medical 

end-points described therein, there can be no guarantee that the FDA will approve tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy. Even 

if the FDA approves tesamorelin, there can be no guarantee that other regulatory agencies will approve tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated 

lipodystrophy in their respective countries.
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Even if the Company obtains regulatory approval for any of its products, regulatory agencies have the power to limit the indicated use of a product. 

Also, the manufacture, marketing and sale of the products will be subject to ongoing and extensive governmental regulation in the country in which 

the Company intends to market its products. For instance, if the Company obtains marketing approval for its tesamorelin in the United States, the  

marketing of tesamorelin will be subject to extensive regulatory requirements administered by the FDA and other regulatory bodies, such as adverse  

event reporting requirements in compliance with all of the FDA marketing and promotional requirements. The manufacturing facilities for the Company’s  

tesamorelin will also be subject to continuous reviews and periodic inspections and approval of manufacturing modifications. Manufacturing facilities 

are subject to inspections by the FDA and must comply with FDA good manufacturing practices (“GMP”) regulations. The failure to comply with any  

of these post-approval requirements can result in a series of sanctions, including withdrawal of the right to market a product.

the commercial success of the company depends largely on the development and commercialization of tesamorelin; the failure by the company  

to commercialize tesamorelin will have a material adverse effect on the company.

The Company’s focus has been to advance the development of tesamorelin in which it has invested a significant portion of its financial resources  

and time. Although the Company has other products, all are at an earlier stage of development.

The ability of the Company to generate revenues in the future is primarily based on the commercialization of tesamorelin for the treatment of  

HIV-associated lipodystrophy. Although the Company entered into the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement in fiscal 2008 for the commercialization 

of its tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in the United States, there can be no guarantee that tesamorelin will be commercialized 

in this country, or in any other country. The commercialization of tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy will depend on 

several factors:

•  receipt of regulatory approvals of tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy from the FDA and other regulatory agencies;

•  market acceptance of the product by the medical community, patients and third-party payers (such as governmental health administration 

authorities and private health coverage insurers);

•  building a marketing and sales force or entering into a commercial agreement with a partner in countries other than the United States to help  

the marketing and sale of tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy;

•  in the United States, the amount of resources used by its commercial partner to commercialize tesamorelin;

•  maintaining manufacturing and supply agreements to ensure commercial quantities of tesamorelin through validated processes;

•  the number of competitors in the market; and

•  protecting the Company’s intellectual property and avoiding patent infringement.

The Company’s inability to commercialize tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in the short term will delay its capacity to generate 

revenues and will affect its financial condition and operating results.
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the company is dependent on the collaboration and licensing agreement for the commercialization of tesamorelin for the treatment of hiv-associated 

lipodystrophy in the united states. this agreement places the commercialization of tesamorelin outside of its control.

Under the terms of the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement entered into by the Company in fiscal 2008, the Company granted its commercial 

partner the exclusive right to commercialize tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in the United States. Although the agreement 

contains provisions governing the commercialization of tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in the United States, the Company’s 

dependence on its commercial partner for such purpose subjects it to a number of risks, including:

•  the lack of control by the Company on the amount and timing of resources that its commercial partner will be devoting to the commercialization, 

marketing and distribution of tesamorelin, which could adversely affect the Company’s ability to obtain or maximize its royalty payments;

•  disputes or litigation that may arise between the Company and its commercial partner, which could result in delays regarding the 

commercialization of tesamorelin in the United States, all of which will divert the Company’s management attention and resources;

•  its commercial partner not properly defending the Company’s intellectual property rights or using them in such a way as to expose the Company  

to potential litigation, which could, in both cases, adversely affect the value of the Company’s intellectual property rights;

•  corporate reorganizations or changes in business strategies of its commercial partner, which could adversely affect such commercial partner’s 

willingness or ability to complete its obligations under the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement;

•  the termination of the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement, which would delay the commercialization of tesamorelin for the treatment  

of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in the United States.

the company’s financial condition could be affected by the introduction of new regulations or amendments to existing regulations.

New legislation or changes to existing legislation affecting the Company and its potential customers could decrease demand for the Company’s products 

and affect its results of operation and financial condition. For example, the implementation of health care reform legislation that regulates drug costs 

could limit the profits that could be made from the development of new drugs. In addition, new laws or regulations could increase the Company’s costs.

the company must complete several preclinical and clinical studies for its products which may not yield positive results and, consequently, could 

prevent it from obtaining regulatory approval.

Obtaining regulatory approval for the commercialization of drug products requires a demonstration through preclinical and clinical studies that the drug  

is safe and effective. All of the Company’s molecules are in preclinical studies, except tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy 

that is in Phase 3. Although the clinical studies for tesamorelin related to the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy are completed, certain analyses 

must be completed for the submission of a NDA to the FDA. If these remaining analyses are not completed quickly or if they show anomalies, the 

submission of a NDA to the FDA and the commercialization of tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy will be delayed. Any  

delay in submitting a NDA to the FDA could adversely materially impact the capacity of the Company to generate revenues, its financial condition  

and its results of operation.

Human clinical trials may result in adverse patient reactions, which may require a cessation or extension of the trials, an increase in the number  

of patients enrolled in a given trial or the need to undertake ancillary testing and human trials.

All of the other molecules of the Company are in early development stages and there remain preclinical and clinical studies to be conducted prior  

to determining whether such molecules will show positive results of safety and efficacy. If any of those studies are not positively conclusive, the  

development of such products could be cancelled and their commercialization abandoned. In addition, the growth of the Company could be compromised 

since there can be no guarantee that the Company would be able to develop new molecules, license or purchase compounds or products that will result 

in marketed products.
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the company relies on third-party suppliers of services to conduct its preclinical and clinical studies and the failure by one of these third parties  

to comply with their obligations may delay the studies and/or have an adverse effect on the company’s development program.

The Company has limited resources to conduct preclinical and clinical studies and must rely on third-party suppliers of services to conduct its studies. 

If the Company’s third-party suppliers of services become unavailable for any reason, including as a result of the failure to comply with the rules and 

regulations governing the conduct of preclinical and clinical studies, operational failures, such as equipment failures or unplanned facility shutdowns, 

damage from any event, including fire, flood, earthquake, business restructuring or insolvency or, if they fail to perform their contractual obligations 

pursuant to the terms of the agreements entered with the Company, such as failing to do the testing, compute the data or complete the reports further 

to the testing, the Company may incur delays in connection with the planned timing of its studies which could adversely affect the timing of the 

development program of a molecule or delay the filing of a NDA, or its equivalent in other jurisdictions. If the damages to any of the Company’s third-

party suppliers of services are material, or, for any reason, such suppliers do not operate in compliance with good laboratory practices (“GLP”) or  

are unable or refuse to perform their contractual obligations, the Company will need to find alternative third-party suppliers of services.

If the Company must change or select new third-party suppliers of services, the timing of the work related to preclinical and/or clinical studies could  

be delayed since the number of competent and reliable third-party suppliers to conduct preclinical and clinical work in compliance with GLP is limited.  

Any selection of new third-party suppliers to carry out work related to preclinical and clinical studies will be time-consuming and will result in additional 

delays in receiving data, analysis and reports from such third-party suppliers which, in turn, will delay the filing of any new drug application with regulatory 

agencies for the purposes of obtaining regulatory approval to commercialize the Company’s products. Furthermore, such delays could increase the 

Company’s expenditures to develop a product and materially adversely affect its operating results and financial condition.

the conduct of clinical trials requires the enrollment of patients and difficulties in enrolling patients will delay the conduct of the company’s clinical 

trials or result in their non-completion.

The conduct of clinical trials by the Company requires the enrollment of patients. Depending on the phase of the trials and/or the type of trials that 

must be conducted, the number of patients may vary. Phase 1 and Phase 2 trials generally require a smaller number of patients than Phase 3 trials.

The Company may have difficulties enrolling patients for the conduct of its clinical trials as a result of design protocol, the size of the patient population, 

the eligibility criteria to participate in the clinical trials, the availability of competing therapies, the patient referral practices of physicians and the availability 

of clinical trial sites. The Company’s difficulty in enrolling patients for its clinical trials may result in the cancellation of its planned clinical trials, delays 

in completing them or termination of ongoing clinical trials. Any of these events will have adverse consequences on the timely development of new 

products, the filing of a NDA, or the equivalent thereof, with regulatory agencies and the commercialization of products. Such events may adversely 

affect the business, the financial condition and the results of operations of the Company.

market acceptance of the company’s products is uncertain and depends on a variety of factors, some of which are not under the control of the company.

The Company’s ability to commercialize its products with success will depend on a variety of factors, including the extent to which reimbursement 

to patients for the cost of such products and related treatment will be available from governmental health administration authorities, private health 

coverage insurers and other organizations. Obtaining reimbursement approval for a product is time-consuming and a costly process that could require  

the Company to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost effectiveness data for the use of a product. There can be no guarantee that the Company’s 

data will be perceived as sufficient for third-party payers to accept to reimburse one of the Company’s products.

The Company has never made any application to seek reimbursement of a drug and must, therefore, rely in part on third-party suppliers of services  

or experienced partners to help it perform this task.



26_2008 annual report

Other factors that will have an impact on the acceptance of the Company’s products include:

•  acceptance of the products by physicians and patients as safe and effective treatments;

•  product price;

•  the effectiveness of the Company’s sales and marketing efforts (or those of its commercial partners);

•  storage requirements and ease of administration;

•  dosing regimen;

•  safety and efficacy;

•  prevalence and severity of side effects; and

•  competitive products.

the company’s capacity to generate revenues may be limited by governmental control over the pricing of prescription drugs.

In some countries, the pricing of prescription drugs is subject to governmental control. In some of these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental 

authorities and reimbursement structures may delay the marketing of a product. If reimbursement of the Company’s products is unavailable or limited 

in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, the revenues of the Company could be adversely affected.

the company relies on third parties for the manufacture and supply of its tesamorelin and such reliance may adversely affect the company if the 

third parties are unable to fulfill their obligations.

The Company does not have the resources, facilities or experience to manufacture its products in large quantities on its own. The Company relies on 

third parties to manufacture and supply its tesamorelin for clinical studies and, unless the Company deems the manufacture of this peptide feasible 

and profitable if tesamorelin is approved for commercialization, it will continue to rely on third parties for some time to manufacture and supply large 

quantities of tesamorelin for commercial sales. 

The Company’s reliance on third-party manufacturers will expose it to a number of risks. If third-party manufacturers become unavailable to the 

Company for any reason, including as a result of the failure to comply with GMP regulations, manufacturing problems or other operational failures, 

such as equipment failures or unplanned facility shutdowns required to comply with GMP, damage from any event, including fire, flood, earthquake, 

business restructuring or insolvency, or, if they fail to perform their contractual obligations under agreements with the Company, such as failing to 

deliver the quantities requested on a timely basis, the Company may be delayed in manufacturing tesamorelin and any other peptide. Any such 

event could delay the supply of a product to conduct clinical trials and, if a product has reached commercialization, could prevent the supply of the 

product and adversely affect the revenues of the Company. Under the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement, the Company agreed to act as supplier 

of tesamorelin for its commercialization in the United States. Accordingly, any delay in manufacturing tesamorelin by third-party suppliers may have 

a material adverse effect on the sales and royalties payable to the Company. In addition, any delay in manufacturing tesamorelin may result in the 

Company being in default under the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement. If the damage to a third-party manufacturer facility is extensive, or, for 

any reason, it does not operate in compliance with GMP or is unable or refuses to perform its obligations under its agreement with the Company, 

the Company will need to find an alternative third-party manufacturer. The selection of a third-party manufacturer will be time-consuming and costly 

since the Company will need to validate the manufacturing facility of such new third-party manufacturer. The validation will include an assessment of 

the capacity of such third-party manufacturer to produce the quantities that may be requested from time to time by the Company, the manufacturing 

process and its compliance with GMP. In addition, the third-party manufacturer will have to familiarize itself with the Company’s technology. Any delay 

in finding an alternative third-party manufacturer of a product could result in a shortage of such product, delay clinical study programs and the filing 

for regulatory approval of a product.
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the company must build its own sales force or enter into commercial agreements with third parties for the sale and marketing of its products  

and there is no guarantee that the company will be able to achieve these tasks.

The Company currently has limited marketing capabilities and no sales force. In addition, the Company has limited experience in developing, training 

or managing a marketing or sales force. In order to commercialize its products, the Company must either develop its own sales force or enter into 

commercial agreements with third parties. The development of a sales force is costly and will be time-consuming given the limited experience the 

Company has in this area. To the extent the Company develops a sales force, the Company will be competing against companies who have more 

experience in managing a sales force than the Company has and that have access to more funds than the Company with which to manage a sales 

force. Consequently, there can be no guarantee that the sales force that the Company could develop would be efficient and would maximize the 

revenues derived from the sale of the Company’s products.

Although the Company was successful in finding a third party for the commercialization of tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy 

in the United States, the canvassing of third parties and conclusion of an agreement with one is a lengthy process which includes, among other things,  

an analysis of the capacity of the third party, the assessment of the services to be performed by the third party, due diligence on the Company’s 

products and the negotiation of the terms and conditions of a commercial agreement. The outcome of this process is uncertain and the Company may 

not be able to conclude any other commercial agreement for the commercialization of its products, including the commercialization of tesamorelin for 

the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in countries other than the United States. The Company may have to delay the launch of its products if 

it is unable to find third parties to commercialize its products and this could adversely materially affect the financial condition and the results of operation 

of the Company. Even if the Company enters into commercial agreements with third parties for the commercialization of its products, those agreements 

contain termination provisions which, if exercised, could delay the commercialization of its products given that the Company has no sales force. 

the failure by the company to protect its intellectual property may have a material adverse effect on its ability to develop and commercialize  

its products.

The Company will be able to protect its intellectual property rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that its intellectual  

property rights are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. The Company tries to protect its intellectual  

property position by filing patent applications related to its proprietary technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the development 

of its business. Because the patent position of pharmaceutical companies involves complex legal and factual questions, the issuance, scope and 

enforceability of patents cannot be predicted with certainty. Patents, if issued, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. If the Company’s 

patents are invalidated or found to be unenforceable, it will lose the ability to exclude others from making, using or selling the inventions claimed. 

Moreover, an issued patent does not guarantee the Company the right to use the patented technology or commercialize a product using that technology. 

Third parties may have blocking patents that could be used to prevent the Company from developing its product candidates, selling its products 

or commercializing its patented technology. Thus, patents that the Company owns may not allow it to exploit the rights conferred by its intellectual 

property protection. The Company’s pending patent applications may not result in patents being issued. Even if issued, they may not be issued with 

claims sufficiently broad to protect its products and technologies or may not provide the Company with a competitive advantage against competitors 

with similar products or technologies. Furthermore, others may independently develop products or technologies similar to those that the Company 

has developed or discover the Company’s trade secrets. In addition, the laws of many countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same 

extent as the laws of Canada and the United States, and those countries may also lack adequate rules and procedures for defending intellectual property 

rights effectively.
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Although the Company has received a patent from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy with tesamorelin, 

there can be no guarantee that the Company will receive a patent in the other countries where it filed a patent application for the treatment of HIV-associated 

lipodystrophy with tesamorelin.

The Company also relies on trade secrets, know-how and technology, which are not protected by patents, to maintain its competitive position. The 

Company tries to protect this information by entering into confidentiality undertakings with parties who have access to it, such as the Company’s current 

and prospective suppliers, employees and consultants. Any of these parties may breach the undertakings and disclose confidential information to the 

Company’s competitors.

Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using trade secrets is expensive and time-consuming and the outcome is unpredictable.  

In addition, it could divert management’s attention from the Company’s business. If any trade secret, know-how or other technology not protected  

by a patent were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor, the Company’s competitive position could be harmed.

The Company’s ability to defend against infringement by third parties of its intellectual property in the Unites States with respect to tesamorelin for  

the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy depends, in part, on its commercial partner’s decision to bring an action against such third party. Under 

the terms and conditions of the Collaboration and Licensing Agreement, the Company’s commercial partner has the first right to bring action against 

a third party infringing on the Company’s intellectual property with respect to tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy. Any delay 

in pursuing such action or in advising the Company that it does not intend to pursue the matter could decrease sales, if any, of tesamorelin for the 

treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy and adversely affect the Company’s revenue.

the company’s commercial success depends, in part, on its ability not to infringe on third parties’ patents and other intellectual property rights.

The Company’s capacity to commercialize its products, and more particularly tesamorelin, will depend, in part, on the non-infringement of third parties’ 

patents and other intellectual property rights. The biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical industries have produced a multitude of patents and it is  

not always easy for participants, including the Company, to determine which patents cover various types of products or methods of use. The scope 

and breadth of patents is subject to interpretation by the courts and such interpretation may vary depending on the jurisdiction where the claim  

is filed and the court where such claim is litigated. The holding of patents by the Company for its tesamorelin and its application in lipodystrophy  

does not guarantee that the Company is not infringing on other third parties’ patents and there can be no guarantee that the Company will not be  

in violation of third parties’ patents and other intellectual property rights.

Patent analysis for non-infringement is based in part on a review of publicly available databases. Although the Company reviews from time to time 

certain databases to conduct patent searches, it does not have access to all databases. It is also possible that some of the information contained in 

the databases has not been reviewed by the Company or was found to be irrelevant at the time the searches were conducted. In addition, because 

patents take years to be issued, there may be currently pending applications that the Company is unaware of, which may later be issued. As a result  

of the foregoing, there can be no guarantee that the Company will not violate third party patents.
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Because of the difficulty in analyzing and interpreting patents, there can be no guarantee that a third party will not assert that the Company infringes 

upon any of its patents or any of its other intellectual property rights. Under such circumstances, there is no guarantee that the Company will not 

become involved in litigation. Litigation with any third party, even if the allegations are without merit, is expensive, time-consuming and will divert 

management’s attention from the daily execution of the Company’s business plan. Litigation implies that a portion of the Company’s financial assets 

would be used to sustain the costs of litigation instead of being allocated to further the development of its business plan.

If the Company is involved in a patent infringement litigation, it will need to demonstrate that its products do not infringe the patent claims of the relevant 

patent, that the patent claims are invalid or that the patent is unenforceable. If the Company was found liable for infringement of third parties’ patents 

or other intellectual property rights, the Company could be required to enter into royalty or licensing agreements on terms and conditions that may not 

be favourable to the Company, and/or pay damages, including up to treble damages (but only if found liable of wilful infringement) and/or cease the 

development and commercialization of its products. Any finding that the Company is guilty of patent infringement could materially adversely affect the 

business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

The Company has not been served with any notice that it is infringing on a third-party patent, but there may be issued patents that the Company is 

unaware of that its products may infringe, or patents that the Company believes it does not infringe but could be found to be infringing. The Company 

has reviewed, and is aware of, third-party patents for the reduction of accumulation of fat tissue in HIV patients and the Company believes that it does 

not infringe any valid claims of these patents.

the company faces competition and the development of new products by other companies could materially adversely affect the company’s business 

and its products.

The biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical industries are highly competitive and the Company must compete with pharmaceutical companies, 

biotechnology companies, academic and research institutions as well as governmental agencies for the development and commercialization of 

products. Some of these competitors develop products in the indications the Company is involved in or commercialize products that are prescribed 

by physicians to indirectly treat the indications the Company is developing products for. All of those products could be considered direct or indirect 

competitors of the Company’s products, including tesamorelin. 

In the other indications currently being studied by the Company for development, there may exist companies that are at a more advanced stage 

of developing a product to treat those diseases than the Company is. Some of these competitors have access to capital resources, research and 

development personnel and facilities that are superior to those of the Company. In addition, some competitors are more experienced than the 

Company in the commercialization of medical products and already have a sales force in place to launch new products. Consequently, they may 

be able to develop alternative forms of medical treatment which could compete with the products of the Company and could be commercialized more 

rapidly and effectively than the products of the Company.
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the company’s business may be harmed if it is unable to manage its growth effectively.

The Company expects to experience rapid growth throughout its operations if tesamorelin is commercialized. Such growth would place a strain on 

operational, human, and financial resources. To manage its growth, the Company will have to improve its operating and administrative systems and 

attract and retain qualified management, professional, scientific, and technical operating personnel.

There can be no guarantee that the Company will be successful in improving such systems and attracting and retaining qualified personnel. Failure  

to manage growth effectively could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operation and financial condition.

the company depends on its key personnel to research, develop and bring new products to the market and the loss of key personnel or the inability 

to attract highly qualified individuals could have a material adverse effect on its business and growth potential.

The Company’s mission is to discover or acquire novel therapeutic products targeting unmet medical needs in attractive specialty markets. The 

achievement of this mission requires qualified scientific and management personnel. The loss of scientific personnel or of members of management 

could have a material adverse effect on the business of the Company. In addition, the Company’s growth is and will continue to be dependent, in 

part, on its ability to retain and hire qualified personnel. There can be no guarantee that the Company will be able to continue to retain its current 

employees or will be able to attract qualified personnel to pursue its business plan.

the company is not profitable and may never achieve profitability. 

For the year ended November 30, 2008, the Company reported losses of $48,953,000. The Company has been reporting losses since its inception 

(except for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2001 and 2000) and, as at November 30, 2008, it had an accumulated deficit of $228,230,000. 

The Company does not expect to generate significant revenues in the immediate future and will continue to experience losses as it continues to  

incur operating expenses in connection with the preparation of its filing of a NDA with the FDA regarding the use of tesamorelin for the treatment  

of HIV-associated lipodystrophy and its efforts to obtain regulatory approvals for tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy in the 

USA and other countries. As a result of the foregoing, the Company will need to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability.

The Company’s profitability will depend on its capacity to obtain regulatory approval for the use of tesamorelin in the treatment of HIV-associated 

lipodystrophy in the United States and on the capacity of its commercial partner to commercialize tesamorelin for such indication. However, there is 

no guarantee that the Company will succeed in commercializing any of its products (including tesamorelin) and, accordingly, the Company may never 

become profitable.

the company may require additional funding and may not be able to raise the capital necessary to continue and complete the research and development 

of its products and their commercialization.

The Company does not generate significant revenues and may need financing in order to continue its research and development of new products  

and its clinical programs, to develop its marketing and commercial capabilities and to meet its compliance obligations with various rules and regulations  

to which it is subject. In the past, the Company has been financed through public equity offerings and the Company may effect additional equity 

offerings to raise capital, the size of which cannot be predicted. The issuance and sale of substantial amounts of equity, or other securities, or the 

perception that such issuances and sales may occur could adversely affect the market price of the common shares.
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Moreover, the market conditions or the business performance of the Company may prevent the Company from having access to the public market  

in the future. Therefore, there can be no guarantee that the Company will be able to continue to raise capital by way of public equity offerings. In such  

a case, the Company will have to use other means of financing, such as issuing debt instruments or entering into private financing agreements, the terms 

and conditions of which may not be favourable to the Company. If adequate funding is not available to the Company, it may be required to delay, reduce, 

or eliminate its research and development of new products, its clinical trials or its marketing and commercialization efforts to launch and distribute 

new products.

the company may not receive the full payment of all milestones or royalty payments pursuant to the agreements entered into with third parties and, 

consequently, the financial conditions and the results of operations of the company could be adversely impacted.

The Company has entered into license agreements and other forms of agreements with third parties regarding the development and commercialization 

of some of its products. These agreements generally require that the third party pays to Theratechnologies certain amounts upon the attainment 

of various milestones and royalties on the sales of the developed product. There can be no guarantee that the Company will receive the payments 

described in those agreements since the development of products may be cancelled if the research does not yield positive results. Under such 

circumstances, the Company would not receive royalties as well. Even if the development of a product yields positive results, all of the risks described 

herein with respect to the obtaining of regulatory approval are applicable. Finally, if there occurs a disagreement between the Company and the third 

party, the payment relating to the attainment of milestones or of royalties may be delayed. The occurrence of any of those circumstances could have  

a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

the company may not achieve its publicly announced milestones on time.

From time to time, the Company publicly announces the timing of certain events to occur. These statements are forward-looking and are based on 

the best estimate of management relating to the occurrence of such events. However, the actual timing of such events may differ from what has been 

publicly disclosed. Events such as completion of a clinical program, discovery of a new product, filing of a NDA (or the equivalent thereof), beginning 

of commercialization or announcement of an additional indication for a product may vary from what is publicly disclosed. These variations may occur 

as a result of a series of events, including the nature of the results obtained during a clinical trial or during a research phase, problems with a supplier 

or a commercial partner or any other event having the effect of delaying the timeline publicly announced. The Company’s policy on forward-looking 

information consists of not updating it if the publicly disclosed timeline varies. Any variation in the timing of certain events having the effect of postponing 

such events could have an adverse material effect on the business plan, financial condition or results of operations of the Company.

the outcome of scientific research is uncertain and the failure by the company to discover new products could slow down the company’s growth.

The Company conducts research activities in order to feed its product pipeline. The outcome of scientific research is uncertain and may prove 

unsuccessful and, therefore, may not lead to the discovery of new molecules and progression of existing molecules to an advanced development 

stage. The inability of the Company to develop new molecules or to further develop the existing ones could slow down the growth of the Company.



32_2008 annual report

the development and commercialization of drugs could expose the company to liability claims which could exceed its insurance coverage.

A risk of product liability claims is inherent in the development and commercialization of human therapeutic products. Product liability insurance 

is very expensive and offers limited protection. A product liability claim against the Company could potentially be greater than the coverage offered 

and, therefore, have a material adverse effect upon the Company and its financial position. Furthermore, a product liability claim could tarnish the 

Company’s reputation, whether or not such claims are covered by insurance or are with or without merit.

the company’s common share price is volatile and investors could lose money as a result of such volatility.

The market price of the Company’s common shares is subject to volatility. General market conditions as well as differences between the Company’s 

financial, scientific and clinical results and the expectations of investors as well as securities analysts can have a significant impact on the trading 

price of the Company’s common shares. In recent years, the stocks of many biopharmaceutical companies have experienced extreme price fluctuations, 

unrelated to the operating performance of the affected companies. There can be no assurance that the market price of the common shares will not 

continue to experience significant fluctuations in the future, including fluctuations that are unrelated to the Company’s performance. The occurrence 

of any of the above risks and uncertainties could have a material adverse effect on the price of the common shares.

Forward-looking information
This annual report and the management’s discussion and analysis contained herein contain certain statements that are considered “forward-looking 

information” within the meaning of applicable securities legislation. This forward-looking information includes, but is not limited to, information 

regarding the filing of a NDA with the FDA, the commercialization of tesamorelin in HIV-associated lipodystrophy, the estimated costs of research and 

development programs and the liquidity needs to finance the Company’s operations. Furthermore, the words “will”, “may”, “could”, “should”, “outlook”, 

“believe”, “plan”, “envisage”, “anticipate”, “expect” and “estimate”, or the negatives of these terms or variations of them and the use of the conditional 

tense as well as similar expressions denote forward-looking information.

Forward-looking information is based upon a number of assumptions and is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond  

the Company’s control that could cause actual results to differ materially from those that are disclosed in or implied by such forward-looking information. 

These risks and uncertainties are described under the section “Risks and uncertainties” and include, but are not limited to, a delay in the filing of  

a NDA with the FDA, the risk that the Company may not obtain all required approvals from regulatory agencies to market its products, the risk that  

the Company’s products may not be accepted by the market, the difficulties the Company may encounter in building its sales force and the delays 

that may occur if the Company encounters problems with a third-party supplier of services or products.

Although the forward-looking information contained herein is based upon what the Company believes are reasonable assumptions, investors are 

cautioned against placing undue reliance on this information since actual results may vary from the forward-looking information. Certain assumptions 

made in preparing the forward-looking information and the Company’s objectives include the assumption that it will not incur any delays in filing a 

NDA with the FDA, that the FDA will approve tesamorelin for the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy, that the Company’s business plan will  

not be substantially modified and that current relationships with the Company’s third-party suppliers of services and products will remain good.



2008 annual report_33

Consequently, all of the forward-looking information contained herein is qualified by the foregoing cautionary statements, and there can be no guarantee 

that the results or developments anticipated by the Company will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences 

or effects on the Company, its business, financial condition or results of operation. The Company does not undertake to update or amend such 

forward-looking information whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by applicable law.

Further information on Theratechnologies
Further information on Theratechnologies, including the Company’s Annual Information Form, is available on the SEDAR site at www.sedar.com. 
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 management’s
 report

The consolidated financial statements of Theratechnologies Inc. presented in the following pages and all information 

in this annual report are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors  

of the Company. 

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in Canada. They include amounts based on exercise of judgment and on estimates. Management has  

established these amounts reasonably to ensure that financial results are presented accurately in all material respects. 

The other financial information included in the annual report is consistent with that of the financial statements. 

In order to ensure accuracy and objectiveness of information included in the financial statements, the Company’s 

management maintains internal accounting and administrative control systems. Management is of the opinion that  

these controls provide reasonable assurance regarding the adequacy of the accounting records for the preparation 

of the financial statements and the adequacy of the recording and safeguarding of assets.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial 

reporting and internal control. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board, and none of its members is involved in the daily operations of 

the Company. All the members of this Committee are financially literate. The Committee meets periodically with 

management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing 

matters and financial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that everyone is properly discharging their responsibilities, 

and to review the financial statements with the external auditors.

The Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when approving the financial statements 

for issuance to the shareholders. The Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval by the 

shareholders, the re-appointment of the external auditors. 

The financial statements have been audited on behalf of the shareholders by KPMG LLP, the external auditors, 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. The external auditors have full and free 

access to the Audit Committee with respect to their findings concerning the fairness of the financial reporting 

and the adequacy of internal controls.

 

Yves Rosconi Luc Tanguay 
President and  Senior Executive Vice President 

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

  

Montréal, Canada 

January 23, 2009

http://www.kpmg.ca
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 aUDItors’ report 
 to tHe sHareHoLDers

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Theratechnologies Inc. as at November 30, 2008 and 2007  

and the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years  

then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 

require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements  

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of the Company as at November 30, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 

years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

 

Chartered Accountants 
Montréal, Canada 

January 23, 2009

* CA Auditor permit no. 14114
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 ConsoLIDateD 
 BaLanCe sHeets
NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007

(in thousands of dollars)  2008  2007

assets 

Current assets: 

 Cash $ 133 $ 2,578 

 Bonds  10,955  27,466 

 Accounts receivable  610  451 

 Tax credits receivable  1,784  1,418 

 Research supplies  301  2,110 

 Prepaid expenses  397  414

   14,180  34,437 

 

Bonds   35,249  30,324 

Investments in public companies  41  635 

Property and equipment (note 4)  1,299  1,722 

Other assets (note 5)  3,375  7,472

  $ 54,144 $ 74,590

 

liabilities and Shareholders’ equity 

Current liabilities: 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 7,198 $ 8,613 

 

Shareholders’ equity: 

 Capital stock (note 6)  269,219  238,842 

 Contributed surplus  5,585  4,807 

 

 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  372  (333) 

 Deficit  (228,230)  (177,339)

   (227,858)  (177,672) 

Total shareholders’ equity  46,946  65,977 

 

Commitments (note 9) 

Subsequent events (note 15)

  $ 54,144 $ 74,590

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

 

Paul Pommier Jean-denis Talon 
Director Director
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 ConsoLIDateD statements 
 of earnIngs
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)  2008  2007

Revenues: 

 Royalties, technologies and other (note 7) $ 214 $ 638 

 Interest  2,427  2,496

   2,641  3,134 

Operating costs and expenses: 

 Research and development  35,326  31,866 

 Tax credits  (2,111)  (1,652)

    33,215  30,214 

 General and administrative  6,185  7,260 

 Selling and market development  3,811  2,351 

 Patents, amortization and impairment of other assets (note 5)  5,581  840 

 Fees associated with the strategic review process and  

  collaboration and licensing agreement (note 15 A)  2,224  —

   51,016  40,665

Operating loss before undernoted item  (48,375)  (37,531) 

Realized loss on disposal and impairment of investments in public companies (note 11 B)  (578)  (57)

Net loss $ (48,953) $ (37,588)

Basic and diluted loss per share (note 6 C) $ (0.85) $ (0.71)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  57,415,468  52,581,559

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

 ConsoLIDateD statements 
 of CompreHensIve Loss
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007

(in thousands of dollars)  2008  2007

Net loss $ (48,953) $ (37,588) 

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets  133  (496) 

Reclassification adjustment for gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets (note 11 B)  572  84

Comprehensive loss $ (48,248) $ (38,000)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 ConsoLIDateD statements 
 of sHareHoLDers’ eqUIty
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007

     Accumulated 

     other 

     comprehensive 

  Capital stock  Contributed income

(in thousands of dollars)	 Number	 Dollars	 surplus	 	(loss)	 Deficit	 Total

Balance, November 30, 2006 46,775,359 $ 177,552 $ 3,486 $ —  $ (136,563) $ 44,475 

Changes in accounting policies (note 2 A) —  —  —  79  —  79 

Issuance of share capital (note 6) 6,888,074  57,879  —  —  —  57,879 

Share issue costs —  —  —  —  (3,188)  (3,188) 

Exercise of stock options: 

 Cash proceeds 867,700  2,392  —  —  —  2,392 

 Ascribed value —  1,019  (1,019)  —  —  — 

Stock-based compensation —  —  2,340  —  —   2,340 

Net loss —  —  —  —   (37,588)  (37,588) 

Change in unrealized gains and losses 

  on available-for-sale financial assets —  —  —   (412)  —  (412)

Balance, November 30, 2007 54,531,133  238,842  4,807  (333)  (177,339)  65,977 

Issuance of share capital (note 6) 3,564,291  29,899  —  —  —  29,899 

Share issue costs —  —  —  —   (1,938)  (1,938) 

Exercise of stock options: 

 Cash proceeds 119,666  397  —  —  —  397 

 Ascribed value —  81  (81)  —  —  — 

Stock-based compensation —  —   859  —  —   859 

Net loss —  —  —  —   (48,953)  (48,953) 

Change in unrealized gains and losses  

 on available-for-sale financial assets —  —  —  705  —   705

Balance, November 30, 2008 58,215,090 $ 269,219 $ 5,585 $ 372 $ (228,230) $ 46,946

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 ConsoLIDateD statements 
 of CasH fLows
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007

(in thousands of dollars)  2008  2007

Cash flows from operating activities: 

 Net loss $ (48,953) $ (37,588) 

 Adjustments for: 

  Amortization of property and equipment  625  550 

  Amortization and impairment of other assets  5,398  562 

  Stock-based compensation  859  2,340 

  Non-monetary revenues (note 7)  —  (619) 

  Realized loss on disposal and impairment of investments in public companies  578  57

    (41,493)  (34,698) 

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

  Interest receivable on bonds  405  (364) 

  Accounts receivable  (134)  (137) 

  Tax credits receivable  (366)  493 

  Research supplies   582  368 

  Prepaid expenses  17  (23) 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (1,277)  1,952

   (773)  2,289

   (42,266)  (32,409) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 

 Share issuance  30,296  60,271 

 Share issue costs  (1,930)  (3,193)

   28,366  57,078 

Cash flows from investing activities: 

 Additions to property and equipment  (301)  (547) 

 Additions to other assets  (146)  (228) 

 Acquisition of bonds  (17,987)  (41,496) 

 Disposal of bonds  29,889  19,385 

 Disposal of investments in public companies  —  779

   11,455  (22,107)

Net change in cash  (2,445)  2,562 

Cash, beginning of year  2,578  16

Cash, end of year $ 133 $ 2,578

See note 11 for supplemental cash flow information.
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 notes to ConsoLIDateD 
 fInanCIaL statements
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007 

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

 1. Organization and business activities
The Company, incorporated under Part 1A of the Québec Companies Act, discovers innovative drug candidates with a view to develop and  

commercialize them, in order to eventually generate a steady revenue stream. The Company has nevertheless been able to enter into collaboration 

and licensing agreements that provide funds to finance the development of its products. The Company targets unmet medical needs in financially 

attractive specialty markets. The Company has concluded a confirmatory Phase 3 clinical trial evaluating tesamorelin, its most advanced 

compound, in HIV-associated lipodystrophy, a serious metabolic disorder associated with excess abdominal fat. The Company also has other 

compounds at earlier stages of development.

 2. New accounting policies
a.  adoption of new accounting StandardS 

Effective with the commencement of its 2008 fiscal year, the Company has adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 

(“CICA”) Handbook Section 1535, Capital Disclosures, CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures, and CICA 

Handbook Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation. The Sections relate to disclosure and presentation only and did not have  

an impact on the Company’s financial results (see notes 12 and 13).

  Effective with the commencement of its 2007 fiscal year, the Company has adopted the recommendations of the CICA Handbook Section 

1530, Comprehensive Income, CICA Handbook Section 3251, Equity, CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition 

and Measurement, and CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges. On December 1, 2006, the impact of these changes in accounting policies 

of $79 is included in the opening balance of accumulated other comprehensive income.

b.  future accounting changeS 

inventories 

In June 2007, the CICA issued Section 3031, Inventories, which replaces Section 3030 and harmonizes the Canadian standards related  

to inventories with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). This Section provides changes to the measurement and more extensive 

guidance on the determination of cost, including allocation of overhead; narrows the permitted cost formulas; requires impairment testing; 

and expands the disclosure requirements to increase transparency. This Section will apply to the Company’s interim and annual financial 

statements beginning December 1, 2008. As the Company had no inventories on November 30, 2008, the adoption of this section will have 

no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

  goodwill and intangible assets 

In January 2008, the CICA issued Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which will replace Section 3062, Goodwill and Other 

Intangible Assets, and Section 3450, Research and Development Costs. The standard provides guidance on the recognition of intangible 

assets in accordance with the definition of an asset and the criteria for asset recognition, as well as clarifying the application of the concept 

of matching revenues and expenses, whether these assets are separately acquired or internally developed. This standard will apply to  

the Company’s interim and annual financial statements beginning on December 1, 2008 and will be applied retrospectively. The impact  

of adopting this standard will be to increase the opening deficit at December 1, 2006 by $861, which is the amount of patent costs related 

to periods prior to this date, as well as to increase the net loss by $80 in 2007 and to decrease the net loss by $342 in 2008.
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 2. New accounting policies (continued)
b.  future accounting changeS (continued) 

international financial reporting Standards 

In February 2008, Canada’s Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) confirmed that Canadian GAAP, as used by publicly accountable 

enterprises, would be fully converged into IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The changeover date  

is for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. As a result, the Company will 

be required to report under IFRS for its 2012 interim and annual financial statements. The Company will convert to these new standards 

according to the timetable set within these new rules. The Company has not determined the impact of adopting the standards on its 

consolidated financial statements.

 3.	 Significant	accounting	policies
a.  conSolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions 

and balances have been eliminated.

b.  caSh equivalentS 

Cash equivalents are restricted to investments that are readily convertible into cash, having a term to initial maturity not exceeding three 

months and whose value is not likely to change significantly. As at November 30, 2008 and 2007, there were no cash equivalents.

c.  financial aSSetS and liabilitieS 

All financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: held for trading, held-to-maturity investments, loans and 

receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments, including derivatives, are included in 

the consolidated balance sheet and are measured at fair market value, with the exception of loans and receivables, investments held-to-

maturity and other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. Subsequent measurement and recognition of changes in fair 

value of financial instruments depend on their initial classification. Held-for-trading financial investments are measured at fair value and all 

gains and losses are included in net income in the period in which they arise. Available-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair 

value with revaluation gains and losses included in other comprehensive income until the assets are removed from the balance sheet or  

if there is an impairment in fair value of these assets that is other than temporary.

  Derivative instruments are recorded as either assets or liabilities measured at their fair value unless exempted from derivative treatment  

as a normal purchase and sale. Certain derivatives embedded in other contracts must also be measured at fair value. All changes in the fair  

value of derivatives are recognized in earnings unless specific hedge criteria are met, which requires that a company must formally document, 

designate and assess the effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting. 

  The Company has classified its bonds and investments in public companies as available-for-sale financial assets and are measured at fair 

market value. The Company has also classified accounts receivable as loans and receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

as other financial liabilities, and they are measured at amortized cost. 
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 notes to ConsoLIDateD 
 fInanCIaL statements
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007 

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

 3.	 Significant	accounting	policies	(continued)
d.  property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Amortization is provided using the following methods and annual rates/periods:

Asset  method Rate/period

Computer equipment Declining balance 50% 

Laboratory equipment Declining balance 20% 

 and straight-line 5 years 

Office equipment and furniture Declining balance 20% 

Leasehold improvements Straight-line Term of lease

e.  other aSSetS 

Other assets consist namely of intellectual property, patent costs and research supplies.

 Intellectual property is amortized over a period of 20 years using the straight-line method.

  Patent costs relate to direct costs incurred in connection with securing the patent and do not necessarily reflect their present or future 

value and the amount ultimately recoverable is dependent upon the successful commercialization of the related products. Amortization  

of patent costs is calculated over their estimated useful lives, varying from 5 to 17 years, using the straight-line method.

  Research supplies are purchased in advance in accordance with regulatory requirements to be used in connection with the Company’s clinical 

trials. Research supplies that are not expected to be used within one year from the date of the balance sheet are classified as long-term.

f. impairment of long-lived aSSetS 

  The Company reviews its property and equipment and other long-term assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be used is measured by the comparison 

of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated from the assets. If the carrying 

amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying value  

of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. The fair value against which the asset is measured may be established based on comparable 

information or transactions, or any other method of assessment.

g. revenue recognition 

  Revenues from research contracts are recognized when services to be provided are rendered and all conditions under the terms of the  

underlying agreement are met. Revenues subject to the achievement of milestones are recorded only when the specified events have occurred 

and collectibility is assured.

  Upfront payments and initial technology access fees are deferred and recognized as revenue on a systematic basis over the period during 

which the related products or services are delivered and all obligations are performed.
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 3.	 Significant	accounting	policies	(continued)
g. revenue recognition (continued) 

 License fees are recorded when conditions and events under the license agreement have occurred and collectibility is reasonably assured.

  Revenues from a collaboration agreement that includes multiple elements are considered to be a revenue arrangement with multiple 

deliverables. Under this type of arrangement, the identification of separate units of accounting is required and revenue is allocated among 

the separate units based on their relative fair values. Payments received under the collaboration agreement may include upfront payments, 

milestone payments, research contracts, license fees and royalties. Revenues for each unit of accounting are recorded as described above. 

 Interest income is recognized as earned using the effective interest method.

h.  reSearch and development 

Research expenditures, net of related research tax credits and grants, are charged to earnings in the year in which they are incurred. 

Development expenditures, net of tax credits, if any, are capitalized when they meet the appropriate criteria for capitalization in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles. During the years ended November 30, 2008 and 2007, no development expenditures  

were capitalized.

i.  Stock-baSed compenSation and other Stock-baSed paymentS 

The Company records stock-based compensation related to employee and non-employee stock options granted using the fair value based 

method estimated using the Black-Scholes model. Under this method, compensation cost is measured at fair value at the date of grant 

and is expensed over the award’s vesting period.

j.  government aSSiStance 

Government assistance, consisting of research tax credits and grants, is recorded as a reduction of the related expense or cost of the asset 

acquired. Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has met the requirements of the approved 

grant program. Research tax credits are recorded when there is reasonable assurance that they will be realized.

k.  foreign exchange 

Foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities are translated in Canadian dollars at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance 

sheet dates. Other assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates prevailing when the assets were acquired or the liabilities incurred.  

Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate prevailing during the year, except for depreciation and amortization 

which are translated at the same rates as those used in the translation of the corresponding assets. Foreign exchange gains and losses  

are included in the determination of net earnings or net loss.

l.  income taxeS 

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized  

in the balance sheet to account for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the respective accounting 

and taxable value of balance sheet assets and liabilities. As appropriate, a valuation allowance is recognized to decrease the value of tax 

assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. Future income tax assets and income tax liabilities are measured using 

income tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. The effect of changes  

in income tax rates is recognized in the year during which these rates change.
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 notes to ConsoLIDateD 
 fInanCIaL statements
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007 

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

 3.	 Significant	accounting	policies	(continued)
m.  earningS per Share 

The earnings per share are determined using the weighted average number of outstanding shares during the year.

  The treasury stock method is used for the computation of the diluted earnings per share. Under this method, a number of additional shares, 

if they are dilutive, are calculated assuming that the outstanding stock options and warrants are exercised, and that the proceeds from the 

transactions are used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the period.

n.  uSe of eStimateS 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date  

of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring  

the use of management estimates include estimating the useful lives and recoverability of long-lived assets, including property and equipment 

and other assets, estimating accruals for clinical trial expenses, estimating stock-based compensation and revenue, as well as assessing 

the recoverability of research tax credits and grants, investments and future income taxes. Reported amounts and note disclosure reflect 

the overall economic conditions that are most likely to occur and anticipated measures to be taken by management. Actual results could 

differ from those estimates.

 4. Property and equipment
	 	 	 2008

	 	 Accumulated	 Net	book	

	 Cost	 	amortization	 	value

Computer equipment $ 682 $ 500 $ 182 

Laboratory equipment  1,824  1,427  397 

Office equipment and furniture  1,015  700  315 

Leasehold improvements  1,846  1,441  405

 $ 5,367 $ 4,068 $ 1,299

   2007

  Accumulated Net book 

 Cost  amortization  value

Computer equipment $ 645 $ 415 $ 230 

Laboratory equipment  1,756  1,314  442 

Office equipment and furniture  989  624  365 

Leasehold improvements  1,840  1,155  685

 $ 5,230 $ 3,508 $ 1,722



2008 annual report_45

 5. Other assets
	 	 	 2008

	 	 Accumulated	 Net	book	

	 Cost	 	amortization	 	value

Intellectual property $ 7,670 $ 7,670 $ —  

Patent costs  2,092  1,493  599 

Research supplies  2,751  —   2,751 

Other assets  25  —  25

 $ 12,538 $ 9,163 $ 3,375

In 2008, the Company wrote off $287 of patent costs following a review by management of the development strategy and choice of a specific 

molecule for the related product.

The Company also conducted an impairment test on the intellectual property included in “Other assets” following a review of the development 

strategy by management for new products. As a consequence, the Company wrote off the carrying amount of this intellectual property. The write-

off of $4,571 is included in “Patents, amortization and impairment of other assets” in the consolidated statements of earnings.

   2007

  Accumulated Net book 

 Cost  amortization  value

Intellectual property $ 7,670 $ 2,713 $ 4,957 

Patent costs  1,993  1,052  941 

Research supplies  1,524  —  1,524 

Other assets  50  —  50

  $ 11,237 $ 3,765 $ 7,472
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 notes to ConsoLIDateD 
 fInanCIaL statements
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007 

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

 6. Capital stock
  2008  2007

Authorized in unlimited number and without par value: 

 Common shares 

 Preferred shares issuable in one or more series 

 

Issued: 

 58,215,090 common shares (2007 - 54,531,133) $ 269,219 $ 238,842

2008 

On February 13, 2008, the Company completed a public offering for the sale and issue of 3,500,000 common shares for cash proceeds  

of $29,750. The issuance costs amounted to $1,938.

In 2008, the Company received subscriptions in the amount of $149 for the issuance of 64,291 common shares in connection with its share 

purchase plan.

All shares were issued for a cash consideration.

2007 

In 2007, the Company concluded a public offering for the sale and issuance of 6,875,000 common shares, including the over-allotment option, 

for proceeds of $57,750. The issuance costs amounted to $3,188.

In 2007, the Company also received subscriptions in the amount of $129 for the issuance of 13,074 common shares in connection with  

its share purchase plan.

All shares were issued for a cash consideration.

a.  Stock option plan 

The Company has established a stock option plan under which it can grant to its directors, officers, employees, researchers and consultants 

non-transferable options for the purchase of common shares. The exercise date of an option may not be later than 10 years after the date 

it is granted. A maximum number of 5,000,000 options can be granted under the plan. Generally, the options vest at the date of the grant 

or over a period of 0 to 5 years. On November 30, 2008, 1,748,834 additional options could be granted by the Company.
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 6. Capital stock (continued)
a.  Stock option plan (continued) 

Changes in the number of options outstanding during the past two fiscal years were as follows:

   Weighted average   

   exercise price 

  options  per share

Options as at November 30, 2006  2,551,000 $ 4.26 

Granted  608,500  9.41 

Exercised  (867,700)  2.76 

Cancelled and expired  (84,167)  2.80

Options as at November 30, 2007   2,207,633  6.32 

Granted  111,000  7.98 

Exercised  (119,666)  3.32 

Cancelled  (37,167)  9.57

Options as at November 30, 2008   2,161,800 $ 6.52

The following table provides stock option information as at November 30, 2008:

 options outstanding exercisable options

  Weighted Weighted  Weighted 

 Number of average average Number of average 

 options remaining exercise exercisable exercise 

Price range outstanding life (years) price options price

$ 1.20 - $ 2.00  640,008  7.01 $ 1.60  535,000 $ 1.65 

 2.01 -  2.75  141,459  5.85  2.59  141,459  2.59 

 2.76 -  3.75  50,000  6.17  3.60  40,000  3.67 

 3.76 -  4.60  —  —  —  —   — 

 4.61 -  6.00  83,500  1.64  5.24  83,500  5.24 

 6.01 -  9.00  625,333  6.85  8.18  519,666  8.16 

 9.01 -  13.50  570,000  5.30  10.84  413,331  10.69 

 13.51 -  15.30  51,500  2.28  15.15  51,500  15.15

  2,161,800  6.10 $ 6.52  1,784,456 $ 6.32
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 notes to ConsoLIDateD 
 fInanCIaL statements
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007 

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

 6. Capital stock (continued)
b.  Stock-baSed compenSation and other Stock-baSed paymentS 

The estimated fair value of the options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 

following weighted average assumptions:

  2008  2007

Risk-free interest rate  3.36%  4.22% 

Volatility  70.4%  68.7% 

Average option life in years  6  6 

Dividend yield  nil  nil

  The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield on a Canadian Treasury zero-coupon issue with a remaining term equal to the expected 

term of the option. The volatility is based solely on historical volatility equal to the expected term of the option. The average life of the options 

is estimated considering the vesting period, the term of the option and the length of time similar grants have remained outstanding in the  

past. Dividend yield was excluded from the calculation, since it is the present policy of the Company to retain all earnings to finance operations 

and future growth.

  The following table summarizes the weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the years ended November 30, 2008  

and 2007:

 Number  Weighted average 

 of options grant-date fair value

2008  111,000 $ 5.16 

2007  608,500  6.10

  The Black-Scholes model, used by the Company to calculate option values, as well as other accepted option valuation models, was developed 

to estimate the fair value of freely tradable, fully transferable options without vesting restrictions, which significantly differs from the Company’s 

stock option awards. These models also require four highly subjective assumptions, including future stock price volatility and expected time 

until exercise, which greatly affect the calculated values.
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 6. Capital stock (continued)
c.  diluted loSS per Share 

Diluted loss per share was not presented as the effect of options would have been anti-dilutive. Furthermore, 641,500 options (2007 — 251,500) 

could have an effect on the calculation in the future, since their exercise prices were higher than the average market price during 2008 

and 2007.

 7. Royalties, technologies and other
On September 26, 2007, the Company signed a licensing agreement whereby OctoPlus N.V. (“OctoPlus”) acquired the exclusive worldwide 

rights for the development and commercialization of its Glucagon-like Peptide-1 (“GLP-1”) program: a portfolio of analogues for the treatment  

of diabetes and other potential indications. OctoPlus’s proprietary drug delivery technology in the area of controlled release will be combined with 

one of the Company’s GLP-1 compounds to produce a product candidate that may reduce the required dosing frequency in diabetes therapy.

The Company received 200,000 OctoPlus stock options upon signature of the agreement. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the agreement, 

OctoPlus will make milestone payments to the Company of up to €36 million (approximately CAD$57 million), based on development, clinical 

phases and commercialization. Royalties on the annual net sales of any products developed and commercialized under the agreement could 

also be paid to the Company. OctoPlus will be responsible for all future development costs for GLP-1 portfolio compounds.

As the Company has no service obligations under the agreement, the fair value of $619 of the options received upon signature of the agreement 

has been recorded as revenue by the Company. The options have a contractual life of 10 years and are exercisable at the average market price 

of OctoPlus’ shares for the 10 days preceding the date of the agreement. The options granted by OctoPlus have been classified as available-

for-sale financial assets and are measured at the fair market value. The estimated fair value of the options granted was estimated using the 

Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

 November	30,	2008 November 30, 2007 september 26, 2007

Risk-free interest rate  2.44%  3.8%  4.29% 

Volatility  44.23%  41.91%  38.75% 

Option life in years  8.8  9.8  10 

Dividend yield  nil  nil  nil
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 notes to ConsoLIDateD 
 fInanCIaL statements
YeARs eNded NovembeR 30, 2008 ANd 2007 

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

 8. Future income taxes
Details of the components of income taxes are as follows:

   2008  2007

Net loss before income taxes $ (48,953) $ (37,588)

Basic income tax rate  31.0%  32.0%

Computed income tax provision  (15,175)  (12,028) 

 

Adjustments to income tax provision resulting from: 

 Impact of decrease in federal tax rates: 

  Decrease in value of future tax assets  5,910  926 

  Change in valuation allowance  (5,910)  (926) 

 Unrecorded potential tax benefit of current year losses and other deductions  17,307  10,075 

 Non-deductible items and others  (2,132)  1,953

  $ — $ — 

The tax incidence of temporary differences resulting in significant portions of future income tax assets is as follows:

   2008  2007

Future income tax assets: 

 Losses carried forward $ 16,045 $ 11,434 

 Unused research and development expenses  26,591  30,976 

 Property and equipment  544  709 

 Share issue costs  1,174  1,127 

 Intellectual property and patent fees  16,248  4,854 

 Available deductions and other  4,183  5,621

   64,785  54,721 

Future income tax liabilities: 

 Intellectual property  —   (1,333)

   64,785  53,388 

Less valuation allowance  (64,785)  (53,388)

Net future income tax asset $ —  $ — 

In estimating the realization of future income tax assets, management considers whether a portion or all future tax assets are more likely than 

not to be realized. Realization of future tax assets is subject to the generation of future taxable income.
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 8. Future income taxes (continued)
As at November 30, 2008, the Company had available the following deductions, losses and credits:

  Federal  Provincial

Research and development expenses, without time limitation $ 95,467 $ 103,118

 

Losses carried forward, until: 

 2014 $ 9,603 $ — 

 2015  275  —  

 2027  7,638  7,628 

 2028  46,520  46,475

 $ 64,036 $ 54,103

 

Unused tax credits expiring in: 

 2013 $ 559 

 2014  1,597 

 2015  1,863 

 2026  2,178 

 2027  3,000 

 2028  3,328

 $ 12,525

 

   Federal  Provincial

Share issue costs $ 4,047 $ 4,047 

Excess of tax value of intellectual property and patent fees over carrying value  60,414  60,390 

Excess of tax value of property and equipment over carrying value  2,616  1,280

 9. Commitments
a.  rental of premiSeS 

The Company rents premises under operating leases expiring in April 2010. The minimum payments required under the terms of the lease 

are as follows:

2009   $ 816 

2010    340

   $ 1,156
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 9. Commitments (continued)
a.  rental of premiSeS (continued) 

The Company has issued an irrevocable letter of credit amounting to $505, along with a first rank movable mortgage in the amount of 

$1,150 covering the Company’s tangible assets located in the rented premises. However, this mortgage can be subordinated to those of 

lending institutions. The lease includes progressive reduction clauses with respect to the amount of the letter of credit beginning in 2004, 

as well as an option for the purchase of the building and land and a renewal option.

  As at November 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company has recorded no liability with respect to this guarantee, as the Company does not expect  

to make any payments for the aforementioned item. Management has determined that the fair value of the non-contingent obligations requiring 

performance under the guarantee in the event that specified triggering events or conditions occur approximates the cost of obtaining the 

standby letters of credit.

b.  credit facility 

The Company has a credit facility available in the amount of $1,800, bearing interest at prime plus 0.5% and secured by bonds. Under 

the credit facility, the market value of investments held must always be equivalent to 150% of advances. If the market value falls below 

$7,000, the Company will agree to give the bank a first rank movable hypothec of $1,850 on securities judged satisfactory by the bank. 

  As at November 30, 2008 and 2007, with the exception of the letter of credit mentioned in (A) above, the credit facility available to the 

Company was not utilized.

 10. Licenses
In addition to the exclusively held products, the Company has certain exclusive licenses to market or commercialize intellectual property from 

research activities performed by certain research institutions. Under these licenses, the Company is committed to pay royalties on the net 

sales of the products commercialized by the Company, or, if applicable, on the amounts received from sub-license, subject to the application 

of the clauses of such agreements.

 11. Supplemental information
a.  Statement of caSh flowS 

The following transactions were conducted by the Company and did not impact cash flows:

   2008  2007

Additions to property and equipment included in accounts payable  

 and accrued liabilities $ 48 $ 147 

Additions to other assets included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  17  64 

Share issue costs included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  8  — 
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 11. Supplemental information (continued)
b.  In 2008, the Company has reclassified in net earning $572 of realized losses on available-for-sale financial assets previously recorded  

in accumulated other comprehensive income. The realized loss includes impairment charge of $578 related to a decline in value that  

is other than temporary for stock options held in OctoPlus.

  In 2007, the Company has reclassified in net earnings $84 of realized losses on available-for-sale financial assets previously recorded 

in accumulated other comprehensive income. The realized loss includes a gain of $537 on disposal of the investment in Sonomed inc. 

(formerly Andromed Inc.). In 2007, the Company received $628 as a result of the redemption of the Sonomed shares held by the Company. 

In 2007, the Company also disposed of its remaining shares in Thallion Pharmaceutical Inc. (formerly Ecopia BioSciences Inc.) for $151 

and realized a loss of $594.

  On November 30, 2008, the accumulated other comprehensive income was composed of unrealized gains on available-for-sale financial 

assets of $372 (loss of $333 on November 30, 2007).

c. The Company received tax credits of $1,746 in 2008 (2007 - $2,144).

d. The following items were included in the determination of the Company’s net loss: 

  2008  2007

Amortization of property and equipment $ 625 $ 550 

Amortization and impairment of other assets (note 5)  5,398  562

 12. Capital disclosures
The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure a sufficient liquidity position to finance its research and development activities, general 

and administrative expenses, working capital and overall capital expenditures, and patents. The Company makes every attempt to manage its 

liquidity to minimize shareholder dilution.

To fund its activities, the Company has followed an approach that relies almost exclusively on the issuance of common equity, as well as proceeds 

and royalties from technologies following the closing of the transaction disclosed in note 15. Since inception, the Company has financed its liquidity  

needs primarily through public offerings of common shares and private placements. When possible, the Company tries to optimize its liquidity  

position through non-dilutive sources, including investment tax credits, grants, interest income as well as proceeds and royalties from technologies. 

The Company’s policy is to maintain a minimum level of debt. The Company has a line of credit of $1,800 for its short-term financing needs. 

As at November 30, 2008, this line of credit has not been used.

The capital management objectives remain the same as for the previous fiscal year.
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 12. Capital disclosures (continued)
At November 30, 2008, cash and bonds amounted to $46,337 and tax credits receivable amounted to $1,784, for a total of $48,121. Furthermore, 

after November 30, 2008, the Company received a gross amount of $36,951 following the closing of the transaction disclosed in note 15.  

The Company believes that its cash position will be sufficient to finance its operations and capital needs for the next year.

The Company’s general policy on dividends is to retain cash to keep funds available to finance the Company’s growth. However, the Board  

of Directors may, from time to time, choose to declare a dividend in assets if warranted by circumstances.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

 13. Financial risk management
This note provides disclosures relating to the nature and extent of the Company’s exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including 

credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, and how the Company manages those risks.

a.  credit riSk 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. 

The Company regularly monitors credit risk exposure and takes steps to mitigate the likelihood of this exposure resulting in losses.

  Financial instruments other than cash that potentially subject the Company to significant credit risk consist principally of bonds.  

The Company invests its available cash in fixed income instruments from governmental, para-governmental and municipal bonds ($43,795 

as at November 30, 2008) as well as from corporations with high credit ratings ($2,409 as at November 30, 2008). As at November 30, 2008, 

the Company was not exposed to any credit risk over the carrying amount of the bonds.

b.  liquidity riSk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company manages liquidity 

risk through the management of its capital structure and financial leverage, as outlined in note 12. It also manages liquidity risk by continuously 

monitoring actual and projected cash flows. The Board of Directors and/or the audit committee reviews and approves the Company’s 

operating and capital budgets, as well as any material transactions out of the ordinary course of business.

  The Company has adopted an investment policy in respect of the safety and preservation of its capital to ensure the Company’s liquidity 

needs are met.

  The instruments are selected with regard to the expected timing of expenditures and prevailing interest rates. Bonds mature during  

the following fiscal years: $10,955 in 2009, $14,367 in 2010, $14,776 in 2011 and $6,106 in 2012.
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 13. Financial risk management (continued)
b.  liquidity riSk (continued) 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, as well as the payments required under the terms of the operating lease, 

as at November 30, 2008:

  Carrying Less than 1 to 

 Total amount 1 year 3 years

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 7,198 $ 7,198 $ 7,198 $ — 

Operating lease  1,156  —   816  340

  $ 8,354 $ 7,198 $ 8,014 $ 340

c.  foreign currency riSk 

The Company is exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates and the degree of volatility of those rates. 

Foreign currency risk is limited to the portion of the Company’s business transactions denominated in currencies other than the Canadian 

dollar, primarily expenses for research and development incurred in US dollars, euros and pounds (“GBP”). The Company does not use 

derivative financial instruments to reduce its foreign exchange exposure.

  The Company manages foreign exchange risk by maintaining US cash on hand to support US forecasted cash outflows for a maximum 

12-month period. The Company does not currently view its exposure to the euro and GBP as a significant foreign exchange risk due  

to the limited volume of transactions conducted by the Company in these currencies.

  The Company believes that the results of operations and cash flows would be affected by a sudden change in foreign exchange rates,  

but would not impair or enhance its ability to pay its US dollar denominated obligations.

 The following table provides significant items exposed to foreign exchange as at November 30, 2008:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)   November	30,	2008

	 	 US$	 	 EURO	 	 GBP

Cash  1  —  — 

Accounts receivable  —  —  —  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (2,589)  (159)  (348)

Balance sheet’s elements exposed to foreign currency risk  (2,588)  (159)  (348)
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 13. Financial risk management (continued)
c.  foreign currency riSk (continued) 

The following exchange rates applied during the year ended November 30, 2008:

	 	 Average	rate	 Reporting	date	rate	

	 	 November	30,	2008	 November	30,	2008

US$ - CAD$    1.0479  1.2370 

EURO - CAD$    1.5440  1.5711 

GBP - CAD$    1.9767  1.9060

  Based on the Company’s foreign currency exposures noted above, varying the above foreign exchange rates to reflect a 5% strengthening 

of the Canadian dollar would have decreased the net loss as follows, assuming that all other variables remained constant:

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  US$	 	 EURO	 	 GBP

Decrease in net loss  129  8  17

  An assumed 5% weakening of the Canadian dollar would have had an equal but opposite effect on the foreign currency amounts shown 

above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

d.  intereSt rate riSk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

interest rates.

  Short-term bonds of the Company are invested at fixed interest rates and mature in the short-term. Long-term bonds are also instruments 

that bear interest at fixed rates. The risk that the Company will realize a loss as a result of a decline in the fair value of its bonds is limited 

because these investments, although they are available for sale, are generally held to maturity. The unrealized gains or losses on bonds  

are recorded in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

 Cash bears interest at a variable rate. Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities bear no interest.

  Based on the value of variable interest-bearing cash during the year ended November 30, 2008, an assumed 0.5% point increase in interest 

rates during such period would have decreased cash flows from operating activities the net loss by $31, with an equal but opposite effect 

for an assumed 0.5% point decrease in interest rates.
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 14. Financial instruments
a.  carrying value and fair value 

The Company has determined that the carrying values of its short-term financial assets and liabilities, including cash, accounts receivable, as  

well as accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate their fair value because of the relatively short period to maturity of the instruments.

 Bonds and investments in public companies are stated at estimated fair value, determined by prices quoted on active markets.

b.  intereSt income and expenSeS 

Interest income consists of interest earned on cash and bonds.

c.  loSS on exchange 

General and administrative expenses include a loss on foreign exchange of $247 (loss of $598 in 2007) for the year ended November 30, 2008.

 15. Subsequent events
a.  On October 28, 2008, the Company entered into a collaboration and licensing agreement with EMD Serono, Inc., an affiliate of Merck KGaA, 

regarding the exclusive commercialization rights of tesamorelin in the United States for the treatment of excess abdominal fat in HIV patients 

with lipodystrophy (the “Initial Product”). Theratechnologies retains all tesamorelin commercialization rights outside of the US.

  Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is responsible for the development of the Initial Product up to obtaining marketing approval 

in the United States. The Company is also responsible for product production and for the development of a new formulation of the Initial 

Product. EMD Serono is responsible for conducting product commercialization activities.

  At the closing of the agreement, on December 15, 2008, the Company received US$30,000 (CAD$36,951) which includes an initial payment 

of US$22,000 (CAD$27,097) and US$8,000 (CAD$9,854) as a subscription for common shares in the Company by Merck KGaA at a price 

of US$3.67 (CAD$4.52) per share. The Company may receive up to US$215,000 (CAD$265,000), which amount includes the initial payment 

of US$22,000, the equity investment of US$8,000, as well as payments based on the achievement of certain development, regulatory 

and sales milestones. The Company will also be entitled to receive escalating royalties on annual net sales of tesamorelin in the US.

  The Company may conduct research and development for additional indications. EMD Serono will have the option to commercialize additional 

indications for tesamorelin in the US. If it exercises this option, EMD Serono will pay half of the development costs related to such additional 

indications. In such cases, the Company will also have the right, subject to EMD Serono’s agreement, to participate in the promotion of the 

additional indications.

  The fees associated with the strategic review process and the conclusion of the collaboration and licensing agreement with EMD Serono 

amounted to $2,224 in 2008 and transaction costs payable at closing are estimated at $4,260 for 2009.

b.  On December 18, 2008, the Company granted 590,500 stock options at an exercise price of $1.80 per share in connection with  

its compensation program.
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